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Our Man in Space by Bruce W. Ronald

 

PROLOGUE

Six passengers boarded the Nolagan at Earth S-124 bound for Troll. As always, the passengers were either rich, friends of the rich, or civil servants. First of the group in wealth and fame was Morris Everhard, a tall Negro with violet eyes. Owner of one of South Africa's largest diamond mines, gambler, playboy, traveler of the near galaxy, Everhard was traveling with two of his harem, Lotus Ching-Lee and Wilma Palmer, both beautiful, both tall, both young, and both determined to destroy the other. Not so rich but almost as striking was Heinrich Bloom, a huge, portly man with a big red moustache. Bloom's in-and-out again adventures with Rothchilds were well-known in financial circles. Bloom spent every waking moment (and a few moments when he slept) trying to increase his wealth. His traveling companion was a gaunt, thin-lipped man, Georgi Zilinski, who, although not overly bright, served as Bloom's secretary. The special talent Zilinski possessed was a photographic memory for numbers. In meetings Bloom would look at Georgi whenever a buying or selling figure was mentioned. A furtive glance or shake would decide Bloom and the man with the red moustache would acquire a bit more wealth. Both men were asexual and made good traveling companions.

The sixth passenger attracted no attention. He was neither tall nor short, fat nor thin. His hair and eyes were an indiscriminate brown, his face not quite handsome. His passport read Harry Gordon, civil servant, Assistant Charge d'Affairs of the Earth Delegation on Troll. He stood in a small anti-chamber with the others and listened carefully to the jump instructions of the ship's "Welcoming Officer," then, utterly unnoticed by his fellow travelers, retired to his 7' by 8' by 7' Economy Class Compartment to await the transition to hyper-space.

There is really only one reason why anyone should pay any attention whatever to this Harry Gordon. It is simply that this man is not really Harry Gordon at all. His real name is William T. Brown. He carries a small bomb inside his head. Once an actor, he is now 25 percent of Earth's traveling Secret Service.





PART ONE

TROLL

 

I

Although Bill Brown had "died" in scene six of the second act, he was forced to remain in full makeup for the strange ritualistic anachronism of the final bows—the moment of truth when the actor, stripped of his assumed identity, stands naked in front of his peers to accept their homage. They took three, not bad for a weekday night.

After the curtains had closed for the final time, Bill Brown joined the crowd of actors justling their way back to reality. A few minutes later he was in the tiny two-man dressing room he shared with the man who overacted Galba in the neo-Shakespearian Otho.

"They got us again tonight, Galba," Brown said, "I was sure we'd win this time."

"Piso, my son," the elder actor replied, "you never learn.".

"Funny thing happened to me after I died tonight, Ed.

fan was waiting in here. While you were quaffing a beer next door, I just may have picked up a job offer."

The other man paused in the middle of washing his face. "What play?"

"I don't know. May not even be a play at all. I walked in here and this tall, dark, handsome type asks me how tall I am. Then he invites me to the Marlboro Club."

"Wow! That's money, Bill."

"I know. He even handed me a couple of hundred EC-MCs. 'Just to prove I'm serious,' he says."

"Look, if it is a play…"

"I know. That Equity closing looks bad to all of us. I'll see what I can do." Bill Brown hurriedly ran a comb through his light-brown hair and stared at himself in the mirror. Regular features. Not ugly. Not handsome. A face. One of billions. "I'm not even sure it's a play. He handed me a business card." Brown started to button his shirt, stopped and pulled the card out of his wallet. "All it reads is 'Victor Hermitage, Personnel Manager, Oxford Milling, Inc.' Ever hear of them?"

The other man shook his head.

"Neither did I. Maybe he thinks that the way I act, I should be operating a drill press. See you tomorrow, Galba. We'll take them for sure."

Bill Brown stepped out of the theater and into the world. Although, for reasons of tradition only, the theater continued to play at 8:30 in the evening, the city life had long ago gone on a 24-hour-day schedule.

There are too many people to do anything else, Brown admitted to himself as he walked to a moving sidewalk. He wondered if the 24-hour day had preceded or followed the formal admission that there was no longer any relationship between employment and income. That had to come, too. Still I'm glad I'm in one of the archaic professions.

The population explosion had been responsible for all of these changes. There were more than 100 million people in East City alone; sprawling from fifty miles south of the theoretically separate Washington, D.C., to a point a third of the way up the Maine coast. Brown had written all this in his Harper's article, "Strip of Inhumanity." His dressing-room guest, Victor Hermitage, had mentioned this article. Now how could he know about it? Although Brown was not really well-known, he felt that the article would suffer if his readers knew his acting background. For this reason he had used a pseudonym.

Brown stepped off the sidewalk, glanced above at the Arrival Board and calculated that he would be in plenty of time for his appointment. Now I didn't really try to keep the article a secret, but doggonit, 1 didn't broadcast it either. How many people know? He crowded in between two fat women, getting in line for his train. Two or throe people at Harper's. Who else? He counted the friends and acquaintances he had told. Less than a dozen. Of course they could have told others.

The actor was painfully honest with himself. Bill Brown never bragged. On the other hand, if he had done something good, he said it. Out of this rather simple philosophy came a third personal guide post for living: If you can do something about it—do it. If you can't, don't worry about it. Since he couldn't understand how Vic Hermitage knew about his article, he shrugged it off and boarded his train, less concerned with Hermitage than with his future in general.

As the aluminum train of 20 cars whined into action, Bill Brown marveled that he found a post of his own to lean against. He hadn't had that kind of luck in months.

Now that the show is closing, what? The neo-Shakespear-ean revival was dying out, and that would be the end of the large cast requirements. I'm just not distinctive enough! Brown was worried because he felt he could do something about this. I'm anonymous. He looked around him. Let myself go and gain 15 pounds and I couldn't be noticed at all. I merge and "mergers" never get to the top. Only the British actors ever get away with that.

The train stopped, paused and started again. The next stop would be his. Now Vic Hermitage has that look of distinction an actor needs to make it big.

Brown had to make it big. The government kept promising emigration within a few years. The big deep space ships were at the ready in central Australia and in the Steppes. But emigration had been promised first almost 15 years ago and still nothing had materialized. Brown had, of course, applied for an emigration permit and had been assigned— thanks largely to his genius I.Q.—a "B" rating. The publication of his article had raised him to an "A". Still there were at least five million "AA" ratings and half a million "AAA" ratings in advance of him. If only I could make it big, Brown thought as the train made the first of its braking maneuvers, either as an actor or writer or even lecturer, that might be enough to get me up to double A, which is as high as I'll ever get.

The train hissed to a rough stop and, with a sigh, the doors opened. Brown left the train, jostled the crowd for position and paid his fare to the calculator. He rejoined the moving sidewalk after a glimpse at his watch.

If this were an acting job, Brown reasoned, they'd just call me in for a reading. Wonder what all the mystery is about? "Personnel Manager?" Maybe Oxford Milling just wants me to mill something. That's nonsense. Why don't I wait a few minutes and Maybe Victor Hermitage will tell me?

The Marlboro Club was a place for the very rich. There are always six square feet of floor space for each guest-guaranteed. There were only 24 single-floor buildings in East City and Bill Brown had never expected to be in one of them. Amazingly there was not a sign of plastic anywhere. The doors and tables were oak, the paneling redwood, and real rugs covered the hardwood floors. As Brown entered he was inwardly bubbling with the excitement of it all, but his actor's reserve kept his features steady. He had to wait at the door almost three minutes before he could be noticed. Then he was shown to a table in a room where he and Victor Hermitage were alone—actually alone!

"I've ordered for both of us. I hope you don't mind."

"No," Bill said without thinking.

"I believe you like double vodka martinis on the rocks with olives."

"How did you know that?"

"Don't be surprised. It's my business."

"Oxford Milling?"

"Let me put this to you quickly. If you called Oxford Milling to have flour or steel or what-have-you milled, you'd discover that we mill only platinum. If by some weird chance you had some platinum and wanted it milled you'd find our charges too high. If you insisted, we'd subcontract to Non-Ferrous, Ltd., which, by the way, can and even sometimes does, mill the stuff. In short, Mr. Brown, it's a cover. I am one of the United Nations' six spies. We'd like you to become our fourth field operative."

Bill just stared as the waiter, after discreetly knocking, entered with the drinks. After the waiter left, Bill was still staring.

Victor Hermitage laughed, "I admit it's a strange proposition—"

"If you are a spy, why should you tell me about it? You don't know me."

"What else is there to know? You've been an orphan since the age of 14. Auto crash. Father was an anti-water-pollution engineer. Mother taught English at the college level. No brothers, no sisters, nearest relative is a maternal grandmother you haven't seen in four years. You travel a lot looking for work. No permanent home. No wife, no fiancee, no mistress and you're tired of your present girl friend."

"She's probably tired of me, too." Bill was past being amazed.

"She is. Now then, for more important matters, you are a firm believer in emigration."

"Isn't everybody? We're being crushed under our own weight," Bill snarled and for the first time, showed emotion.

"Oddly enough, no. Not even a majority of people want to emigrate, although most would like to see some of the others go. Now, I know that you know how serious our over-population problem is—I've read your study of it and it's a good one, although you're missing a lot of the awful facts."

Bill sipped his martini and marveled at its excellence.

The man from Oxford Milling took a large gulp from his old fashioned. "I expected you'd react this way, Mr. Brown."

"React how?"

"By not reacting.**

Brown smiled. "Call me Bill. You know me so well the mister bit sounds affected."

"Okay, I'm Vic. Now then, I won't bore you with background. Ever since Gallagher pressed the black-box button on the other side of the moon and the galaxy came in, we've been waiting for our chance at emigration. Well, outside of the impressive Citizen Detobion, we haven't seen another citizen of the galactic empire. The local bureaucrats took over."

"Council of the 16."

Vic nodded.

"Do you know why they haven't opened up any planets for us?" Brown asked.

"Since we're not a member, we have no idea what goes on at their meetings. They've met almost 20 times and each time we hear there's nothing for us as yet."

"But there are planets available."

"Hang on to your hat. There are over a hundred and fifty of them in the area." Vic smiled slightly. "Now I see you're reacting slightly; I don't blame you."

"Why can't we go over the 16's heads? It was the galactic empire that offered us lebensraum; what right has the Council of 16 got…" he trailed off.

"They have the legal right," Vic said grimly. "The empire appointed them to govern the sector."

"They're trying to kill us."

"Right." Vic sipped his drink. "I want to answer your question, though."

"Which question?"

"Why don't we go over their heads? We've tried it. Remember Commander Yargoff?"

"Who could forget a man like that? He drowned on a fishing trip, didn't he?"

"His ship was blown apart about one and a half par-sees from here. Yargoff and 93 other fine men. About six years ago the same thing happened to Grayson and 52 of his men. Individual passengers can't make it because of the eye retina photography."

"What?"

"It's required on ships making the run to the inner galaxy. Since Earth isn't a voting member of the empire, we're not allowed to visit." Victor Hermitage rang for a second round of drinks. "Want to know another top secret? Earth doesn't have many years left."

"I know that."

"In general, of course, but if you take this assignment you'll be the 33rd man to know exactly how much time we poor sardines have."

"Why me?"

"Wait until the waiter is gone again." The dark man finished his old fashioned and the two men sat in silence until the waiter arrived with two additional drinks, removing the empty glasses as he left. Then Victor reached into his inside coat pocket and pulled out a photograph. "Ever see this man before?"

Bill glanced at the photo, then took it in his hands for careful study. "Could be a picture of me. I guess it isn't."

"It's a photo of a man named Harry Gordon. Until last night he was the assistant to the Charge d'Affairs on Troll."

"That's one of the 16."

Hermitage nodded. "Last night, with about four weeks remaining on a 90-day vacation, he was shot to death in the Records Room of UN Security." He gulped a portion of his fresh drink, "Now then, whether you come in with us or not, this next part must never go any further. All right?"

Bill reflected a moment, then nodded.

"Good. We probed his mind within a half hour after his death." Victor Hermitage noticed his companion stiffen slightly in his chair. "Of course it's illegal, but he had been caught spying and he was dead, after all, so we took the risk. You know how a probe works?"

"Vaguely. You ask questions and record a lot of electrical responses. A computer sorts it out."

"Right. I know so much about them I could never have given such a clear answer. Here's the picture we got. He'd been hired by Troll to find out the magic figure—the date our best sociologists believe Earth will collapse into chaos from overpopulation, or go to war against the galaxy."

Bill's eyes widened and his hands shook slightly as he replaced his glass.

"A lot of our top experts feel we may as well go with a bang as with a whimper. The attitude is growing, and with certain modifications our 60 deep-space ships could be made into a workable fleet. We'd create some havoc before we went up in smoke."

"That I didn't know."

"We don't know whether the Council of 16 does or not. They could be waiting for us to make just such a move. Now then, we want you to give Troll that information as Harry Gordon and try to find out as much as you can in return."

"The wrong information?"

"Naturally. For this you'll be paid 10,000 ECMC's, all expenses, and be given a triple-A priority for emigration if it does ever come."

Triple A, Bill's brain whirled. It was only A now. He would go within the first year. "Could I get away with it?"

"My boss and I think you have a good chance."

"Gordon's voice?"

"Not far off. We have some good recordings of his last three reports to his superior. We also have a wealth of personal background and about a half an hour of probe tapes. You'll know a lot about Harry Gordon."

"You don't have much doubt that I'll accept, do you?"

"If it were only what I told you so far, I'd have none at all. But there's one very unpleasant extra. I told you that there are only three other spies in space now. Then there's my boss, a secretary, and me. Now if an Earth spy were ever caught, the Council of 16 would have an excellent reason for keeping us out of the Council, or never opening up a planet for our emigration. That's why there are so few of us. To join the company you have to undergo a rather bizarre initiation ceremony." He paused melodramatically. "Each of us wears a tiny bomb in our heads. It's light and easy to live with, but if anybody turns a probe on us it explodes, scrambling the evidence!"

The door opened and the waiter entered with Tourne-dos—juicy hunks of real steak, honest mushrooms and big, tender, home-grown tomatoes and peppers wrapped in crisp bacon. A baked potato was the only side dish.

"Eat hearty, Bill. You were very good in the play tonight. I saw it the first time about two weeks back and didn't hate Piso nearly so much then."

"He's a colorless character; there's no handle to him. I finally gave up and played him to build Otho's scenes."

They discussed theater during the dinner. Over the second cognac, Bill Brown said yes.

Bill Brown spent a very busy three weeks. For the first four days he had continued to play his part of Piso in the play at night (with a matinee on Saturday), while studying his new role of Harry Gordon during the day. Then it got worse.

Harry Gordon was the son of a once rich man and an even richer mother. When Gordon's parents had died a few years apart, Harry gambled away what was left after taxes and then looked up his father's old friends and wangled a job in the diplomatic service. Troll was consid-ered good duty and Harry seemed to be at least competent on the job. He had defected for the same sum of 10,000 credits promised to Brown (whatever happened to 30 pieces of silver? Bill wondered) plus some Troll real estate to be delivered a year or so after his return. Gordon's voice was no problem; his speech patterns were. Bill raised his voice three notes using the old piano technique, but found Gordon's rather inane cliches hard to say with conviction—"you don't say", "you know", "how could you", "jeasil", "my dear sir", and their ilk. Gordon also swore. Brown never did except on stage or for rare personal dramatic effects.

There was one final thing Bill Brown didn't like about his subject. Harry Gordon drank bourbon with ginger ale, a sin Brown considered only slightly less venal than his treachery.

There were a lot of loose ends. The reports on Harry Gordon were superficial. The after-death probe of the fading mind was necessarily incomplete and registered only the answers to direct questions (and they were the pyrong questions as far as I'm concerned, Bill thought, they don't define his character). Although Brown saw thousands of feet of film showing Troll and its chief city, Zantin, it was not the same as personal knowledge. Most of the Troll language would have to be learned hypnotically on the one week (relative) trip, but since Gordon had never been much of a linguist, perhaps that wouldn't matter. Brown had learned Intergalaca on his own years ago.

Two days before he was due to leave Earth, a test was conducted. Brown, as Harry Gordon, dated a girl Gordon had known years before. It was a close thing; the girl remarked about the changes in Gordon over the years, but was apparently satisfied that he was the real thing. The next morning the bomb was carefully placed in Bill's skull and he officially became Earth's fourth traveling spy.

 

II

The Nolagan was of Troll, a big and rather posh ship with more first class compartments than economy cells. Bill Brown spent most of his time in his cabin studying his part, learning the Troll language and cursing himself for taking the job. On the third day he could stand the prison sentence no longer and went out to the ship's gym (10'xl0'xl6' high) to get some exercise. All us good spies keep in shape, he rationalized.

He changed into a set of trunks and walked out to the trampoline. A fat lady with the green complexion of Genad IV was pushing away at some exercising machine while a Troll muscleman lifted weights (with some skill) for the benefit of an admiring Wilma Palmer.

Brown bounced tentatively on the trampoline, getting the feel of the thing and finally did a knee drop, recovering automatically, staring straight ahead. The Trampoline seemed in order. He sat down, recovered, then immediately did a back drop. Say, I wonder if this bomb could go off on impact? He did a front fall and was slightly off in his timing. He did it again correctly.

"Excuse me," said the muscleman in Intergalaca, "May I?"

Brown was surprised. What would Gordon do? "I just got on."

"I know, but I do not like to see it done so badly."

Brown bounced hard and started to execute his best maneuver, a somersalt in layout position, then he recalled that Gordon wasn't much of an athlete. He stopped bouncing and stepped off the trampoline. The muscleman proceeded to do three quick, flashy stunts with more flourish than skill. The girl applauded.

Sickened at his poor showing, Brown stalked out of the room to the swimming pool.

"Economy call passengers may use the pool from 10:07

to 11:42, 13:23 to 15:19 and 19:47 to 20:58 only," read the sign in English, the official Earth language. I guess those times break down to something logical in Troll times. It was 11:35. Big deal. Seven minutes.

The pool was fairly crowded. There were at least 30 people present from (Bill Brown guessed) six different human-type planets plus one extremely unpleasant spider-ish thing from Y-2348. He checked in, acknowledged that he had only a few minutes to swim, walked to the diving board and started to dive in.

"Harry Gordon!"

Bill Brown froze on the end of the board. His mouth went dry with fear as adrenalin shot into this sytem. He whirled around and saw a beautiful girl smiling at him. Bright auburn hair, a perfect figure covered with two tiny, ineffectual strips of cloth, a face a man could never forget —high cheek bones, thick sensuous lips, big sparkling eyes.

In perfect English, she said, "How the hell are you again, Harry?"

Earth's number four spy did the only thing he could. He tripped and fell into the pool.

As Brown fell, he twisted his body to hit flat. Although he'd performed better belly-smackers in his day, for no spring it was a fairly spectacular affair. It hurt anyway, almost enough to make him lose part of the huge breath he had gulped at the last second. Once underwater he didn't move at all, dropping down toward the bottom of the plastic-lined pool, achieving equilibrium and drifting upwards again. As he was debating about what he would do when he ran out out breath, he heard a splash nearby and a brawny hand grabbed his arm with what Brown felt was unnecessary force. It worked. Now what?

The lifeguard hurled his arm around Brown's chest, ducking him under just as he was getting a breath. Brown started coughing. A few moments later what seemed like two coils of wire wrapped themselves around the spy's chest and lifted him easily from the water. It turned out to be the front two legs of the spider thing. Still coughing, Brown was dumped onto the side of the pool.

"Poor guy. He took a nasty fall," said the lifeguard.

The spider-thing clicked.

The girl who had called out to him rushed up to kneel beside the victim. "I am so sorry, Harry." To the lifeguard, in Intergalaca, "It's my fault. We have not seen each other in years. J guess he was so surprised he fell in."

Bill Brown quit coughing, but didn't say anything.

"Are you all right?" the lifeguard asked.

He managed to nod slightly.

The girl continued, "Was it such a shock to see Lise again?"

"You have no idea," he said. To the lifeguard, "Everything is all right. I must have slipped on the board. Hit flat." He grimaced for effect. "Lise, how are you? It must have been—how long?—two, three—"

This time she wouldn't help him out. "Are you really all right?"

"Oh, yes." He stood up, thanked both the lifeguard and the spider thing and started back toward the pool exit. Lise was by his right elbow, her bright green eyes staring up at his face with obvious concern. "I seem to have missed most of the economy class swimming period anyway. I'll go back to my cabin and lick my wounds." This he muttered in English, rather than the more formal, no-contract-tion Intergalaca.

She followed him into English, "Is your government really that stingy?"

She speaks English perfectly but that's no help. Gordon could have met her on Earth or on Troll. She's not from Earth, but I don't think she's from Troll either. Nuts.

'Fraid so. That's the austerity of an over-crowded planet."

She did not react. "Where's your cabin?"

"Toward the center. Where are you?"

"E Deck. Four-twenty-six. Big. Beautiful. Extravagant."

He filed the cabin number in his mind.

She continued, "Why don't you come by about 19:51, if you're free? I'll order up a dinner just the way you like it."

The spy smiled broadly, "I'd like that very much. I'll be there. By the way you don't have to escort me to the cabin, you know; I'm all right now."

"AH right. See you at 19:51."

"Cabin 422?" he tested.

She looked at him strangely and laughed out loud. "Silly. It's 426!"

She left and Bill Brown heaved a huge sigh of relief. He went to his cabin, hurriedly pulled on some clothing and quickly walked to cabin 426. The sign read "Lise Zu-ron, native Caddod, destination Troll." From there he went to the ship's radio room, wrote a message to Oxford Milling to be sent the next time the ship dropped into normal space. The operator estimated there could be no answer until he docked on Troll.

After a brisk shower, Bill Brown tried to plan his actions for the evening. A slip would be disastrous. Unfortunately, Brown couldn't conceive of not making that slip.

Had she been Harry's mistress somewhere? Bill Brown had had no briefing along these lines. True, he knew Gordon's major girl friends (Harry had had a lot of them) but Brown's knowledge of his prototype was almost completely limited to Harry's defection, Harry's Troll contacts, and Harry's embassy job. Background studies had been brief and confined to basics.

Nuts, three days on the job and I'm dead. But, he rationalized, if I hadn't accepted the invitation she might have smelled a rat. As he dressed for lunch he smiled at the paradox Lise had created for him. If he weren't a spy, the prospect of having a cosy dinner with such a beautiful girl would have filled his day with anticipation. Since he was, the evening ahead caused him nothing but dread.

After nibbling at lunch, pacing his room back and forth for almost three hours, he got up and manfully proceeded to take the coward's way out.

First Class passengers are entitled to clear Customs in advance of the peasantry, so Brown was surprised to see Lise waiting outside the long, low Troll Customs building.

"You're down to one crutch now," she kidded.

"Jeasil, don't kid me anymore. I feel like a damn fool already," Brown said with some feeling. "I nearly drown in front of you in the morning, then cream myself on the trampoline just before our dinner together." He half-leered, which he hoped would indicate mild displeasure if they had been friends and tragedy if they had been lovers.

"I'll be at the Pouray for a few weeks if you can keep' out of the hospital long enough to come visit me."

"You can count on me, you know. I can get rid of this crutch any time after today. I'll give you a call soon."

She smiled and walked to him. "Do that, Harry."

They kissed. Brown forced it slightly, having analyzed the possibility before. She returned it with a passion that engulfed Brown. (They were lovers, he thought). It was far more than a kiss, it was a promise. Lise turned and walked away to a waiting cab, her auburn hair bouncing around her shoulders as she walked.

This spy business has some compensations.

Lise had insisted upon an attended cab, but Bill Brown went to a common stand and casually boarded a robot. Inside he dialed 7428 and waited. Two seconds later, after receiving instructions from a master computer at the cab company office, the small vehicle flashed a warning light and moved out onto the road, treading its way jerkily through traffic. Cabs, wasteful of space, were almost extinct on Earth. Brown revelled in the luxury and relaxed.

"I'm on Grendid at the Vint. Room 19301."

"I'll try to arrange it for tonight. Call me back at 1700 local time. Good to hear from you."

"I'll call."

"How long have you held the note?" the newsman asked in Intergalaca.

"About half a Grendidian time division."

Brown repeated his answer in terrible Grendidian for the Other newsmen. He didn't want anyone to know how proficient he had become in the local language. He had received the message in the studio where he had been since shortly after lunch.

"The message will be appearing shortly," said the Inter-galaca announcer. "How does it feel to read a note from a dead man—a man who tried to kill you this very morn-ing?"

"I will tell you that after I have read it." Ask a stupid question …

The studio clock was spinning toward the actual time. Bill opened the outer enclosure and stared at the blank paper.

"Fifty 'seconds'," said both newsmen. "Seconds" was not the right word but there were 100 of them in a Grendidian "minute", and 100 "minutes" to the "hour" of approximately 55 Earth minutes (the beauty and logic fell apart after this—a day was 22 hours long).

The paper remained blank. At exactly 1500 the first words appeared magically as the timed chemical dye reacted with the chemical paper. It was written in Intergalaca: "Earth-man, I will be dead when you read this, but it will be a death I choose. As you may know, we Trolls do not fear death, but we do fear dying unprepared. I thank you for not killing me when you had the chance. It was a consideration I did not deserve.

"To earn this consideration I can warn you of another assassin who is planning to kill you. He is an Earthman using the name Vic Hermitage. I traveled to Grendid on the same ship. Thinking he was an ally of yours and an enemy of mine, I searched his cabin. He carried energy weapons and encapsulated poisons. Beware of paper, cloth, anything which will crush. He carried a photo of you and a magnoclip book concerning your actions on Troll. You are his intended victim.

"I should not have given you a chance this morning but

I have paid for that mistake. I could not die in your debt. Now we are even. Nagoral."

Silently, Brown tore the top paragraph from the rest of the message and handed it to the newsman. After a moment's hesitation he gave them the last paragraph as well.

"The middle part is personal," he explained. "Nagoral was a brave man," he said. "He fought and died a man." That says nothing, he thought.

Why should Vic want to kill me? He recruited me as a spy. He answered questions listlessly until five "minutes" after 1500 when the dye began to fade. The newsmen, feeling slightly cheated, returned the broadcast to their studios and tried to goad Brown into an angry statement. Brown refused. Picking up his equipment, he said goodbye —pleasantly—and returned to hir room.

I thought the Church would offer real sanctuary, he thought as he entered his room, hand on the energy pencil he had taken from Nagoral. But the castle has chinks in its armor and there's a mixed metaphor if I ever heard one. Joshua has been hitting the ram horns again and my walls are in the process of tumbling.

Does Earth want to kill mo because I'm such a lousy spy? He put the new typno tape on the machine and turned on the machine. If they'd wanted a competent spy, why'd they pick on me? I've had enough trouble just staying alive. He reflected on the day's events. I think maybe my image improved a bit today. Maybe I could pull off the spectacular save at the eleventh hour…

He napped until Vic called him at 1700. Bill said he had things arranged and he would see him at 2200 that night.

Then Brown called Kk and the condemned man ate a hearty supper.

Zantin was the largest city on the planet, but to Brown it looked like an anachronism. It was so modern, he admitted, but so small; there were three, two, even one-story buildings everywhere! It looked so much like an Earth city of the 1950's (better built and more aesthetically pleasing, of course), Brown had the strange feeling of entering the past. The actor was disappointed. So these were the supermen who wouldn't let Earth enter the galaxy?

The Troll citizens were quite Earthlike, only their slightly blue complexions and catlike ears set them apart from Brown. One thing impressed the Earthman greatly—there seemed to be very few fat Trollians. On Earth, as the space per person grew less and less, the people grew fatter and fatter in a grim macabre race to fill the gap.

The cab flashed another light, a warning that only 102 seconds remained in the trip. All these crazy different times! Brown grasped his suitcase and attache case. His nerves were getting taut now. His face remained passive but his Stomach muscles were hard with tension.

Relax, Harry Gordon, Bill Brown told himself.

The cab stopped in front of a three-story building that had obviously been a private home some time before. He placed his credit card in the proper space, the mechanism clicked and the door opened automatically. Retrieving his card, the spy grabbed his two pieces of hand luggage and left the cab.

He walked a few steps toward the" door when a pleasant, full-faced man stepped out of the building. "Harry. Glad to see you back. Got lots of work for you."

"Jeasil, Tim, give me a minute to catch my breath." Tim Gonzolez was Harry's boss, the Embassy's Charge d' Affairs. "Miss me?"

"Not much. How was Earth?"

"Crowded."

"Say, here's a message for you, Harry. Came super-special from—" he took a red envelope from his pocket and looked at it—"Oxford Milling, whatever that is."

"Met a guy from there while I was on vacation, you know." Brown put down his luggage and reached for the envelope.

"He's impulsive and rich, that much I can tell. These red envelopes come high," Tim said. "Say, Harry, what's the matter? You look like you've seen a ghost."

"Hell? Oh no. It's just that this guy's sister died in a crash a day after I left. Poor kid. You never know when it's coming. Damn, that's a shame." He wadded up the message and shoved it into his pocket. Bill Brown wouldn't need to see it again; he had it memorized.

The message read: "Harry, know nothing at all about that subject, under Earth or Troll conditions. John Cad-dod says he doesn't know either. Lots of luck. Vic."

Not only didn't Earth intelligence have any information on her, the emigration service of the planet Caddod didn't have her registered! Then where is she from? Who is she? Did she really know Harry Gordon? And, if not, what does she know about me?

 

III

For a full week nothing happened… as far as Bill Brown was concerned.

Brown-Gordon went to work every day, filed his share of reports, had occasional talks with his immediate superior, Tim Gonzolez, many interviews with the cute Gina Pavnov (who was secretary to the Charge d'Affairs staff and hopelessly in love with the married Gonzolez), and even had two interviews with Texas Harris, the Ambassador. During the second interview Brown was told that the vacation must have done him some good because Gonzolez had commented favorably about the improvement in his work.

He learned a few things about the planet. Troll was governed by a weak dictator (a concept Brown had difficulty in understanding) and was actually run by some two-dozen bureaucrats. According to the government experts who briefed him, Troll was stultifyingly stable. Manufacturing was the planet's one ability, maintaining the status quo its one concern. The birthrate was alarmingly low and the population of the planet was increasing only infinitesimally each year. Troll had only one colonized planet of its own and had trouble maintaining it. What Brown couldn't understand was why Troll, if it had no use for planets to colonize, would refuse Earth the living space it must have.

As a spy, Brown felt he was doing all right. He couldn't take the initiative. The probe of Gordon's mind had been most emphatic about this point—Flovatow, the Troll Intelligence Officer, would contact him. So he sat and waited. One problem that did not develop was Kandy Harris, the Ambassador's 19-year-old daughter. Although Oxford Milling could not be sure, it was possible that Gordon had been her lover. But Kandy was vacationing on the other side of Troll, so that solved that.

It turned out that this mysterious Lise was no problem either. After a few days' wait, he called the hotel. She was out and no one knew when she would return.

So, as Bill awoke on the eighth day, he was feeling rather pleased with himself. True, he had achieved nothing on Troll, but on the other hand, he had made no mistakes, either.

Then the roof caved in.

Shortly after he arrived for work, Miss Pavnov coyly informed him that Kandy Harris would be back that day. She was cutting her vacation short, Miss Pavnov intimated, because Harry Gordon was now present and available. Brown felt that if Oxford Milling had wanted to find out if Gordon and Kandy were lovers, all they would have had to have done was listen to Gina Pavnov's insinuating tone. Bill had been given a fair amount of background information about Kandy. Young, foolish, blonde and pretty.

Since Kandy would not arrive until late in the evening, Bill felt that he could ignore this development until then. At noon, when he left the Embassy to walk down the hill to a first-rate and inexpensive restaurant, he was surprised to see, in the middle of a low, powerful turbo-cruiser, Lise Zuron.

"Hi. Hop in, Harry. I'm taking you to lunch."

He walked over and admired both car and girl. She was wearing the Troll sports-dress that had been banned on

Earth. Concealing enough below the hips, a single, straight, awning-like band shaded the breasts but did not conceal them.

"I tried to call you at the hotel last week," he said.

"Like the outfit?"

"You know my puritan upbringing. Still," he said, sliding into the seat beside her, "if that decorous commission had seen you in that outfit, I doubt if it would have been banned on Earth."

"Earth keeps fighting nudity. Troll lost years ago. But for you, blushing Harry, I brought along a blouse and I shall be decorum itself."

"Don't go too far, wench. If my career continues to advance at its startling pace, I may end up on a nudity commission of my own, too old to remember the evil feelings those dresses inspire." Watch the dialogue, Brown, you're supposed to be dull old Harry.

The vehicle purred into life, nosing out onto the one private lane on the wide street and then shot forward with real speed.

"We are having lunch today at the Hode Gedid. Have you ever eaten there before?"

Gordon-Brown turned to look at the girl. "Forget the blouse."

She laughted and apparently forget the question, which the spy couldn't answer.

Ten minutes later they arrived at the Hode—house of— Gedid. There were only a few of the old family-run restaurants anywhere on Troll. It was a big, three-story home surrounded by acres and acres of gently rolling hills covered with the clover-like gray-blue grass common to the planet. Lise put on her blouse in spite of his weak objections and the twosome walked into the house. Lise was obviously expected. She was greeted expansively by the doorman, the maitre d' and the waiter himself.

It was a wonderful meal. Starting with a Fuion cocktail, going through the traditional fish, fowl, meat and sweets courses, and followed by a delicious bitter-sour salad. There was no doubt about it, Troll cooking was infinitely better than the food on Earth. Since his hours at the Embassy were more or less his own and there were no appointments scheduled for the afternoon, he was not the least bit sorry to see two hours flash by in the company of one of the most brilliant and charming (and beautiful) women he had ever met. At one point during the meal he had asked her, "What can so much woman see in plain, drab, dull Harry Gordon?" The question was an honest one. He had wondered this ever since he had seen her aboard the No-lagan. She had answered that he wasn't dull at all. That, Bill thought, was a lie and the only thing she had done that day that wasn't perfect. She even paid for the check. In fact, since there had been ho check, apparently the payment question had been settled in advance. If she is a spy, Brown thought, I'm in the world's best business.

As they were leaving, Lise wanted to powder her nose and Bill entered the men's room for a more honest purpose. A Troll was washing his hands. In the mirror Bill caught a good look at his face. It was Flovatow! His contact man!

"I have almost washed the skin from my hands, Mr. Gordon. Tonight. Take cab 678 at exactly 51:21 in front of your Embassy." The Troll dried his hands and left.

Jackpot!

It never rains but… thought Bill Brown.

Leaving the men's room Brown worried about how he could decently avoid Lise for the evening, but she took care of the problem by announcing that she would be busy that night, asking him to call her tomorrow. He agreed and she drove him back to the Embassy and tenderly kissed him goodbye. ,

He worked for a few hours, then went to his room, took a shower and stretched out for an hour's semantic relaxation. Just before a performance Bill never could nap, and getting the various parts of his body to relax was the next best thing.

There was still a little time left, so he confirmed an appointment he had planted in the afternoon, calling Tim Gonzolez and telling him that his witness on a sticky interracial legal case could see him that evening. Actually he had determined in the morning the witness would harm the defendant and decided not to use him. Tim laughed and commented that he really had become a demon for work and that he'd better have a good story to tell Kandy in the morning.

Alibi established, he didn't worry too much about his 19-year-old lover. His job would be completed in a few hours, a simple, prearranged message would be sent to Earth, a series of reports filed and Gordon would be recalled to Earth to answer a parent suit. Serve Kandy right for falling for such a clod anyway.

He examined his small array of weapons, smuggled in under diplomatic immunity. A projectile gun, of course, a fountain-pen energy gun and a cigarette lighter grenade. He discarded the projectile weapon but slipped the other two into his suit pocket. He doused his face with cold water, dried himself off and got dressed. By 51:00 he was at the Embassy door. At the proper moment. Bill Brown stepped out on the curb and hailed a taxi. It was 678 all right. His real career as a spy had begun.

The taxi driver, a shin, gaunt-faced man with a scar on his face, didn't speak during the trip. Brown didn't like him at all. The taxi ride took him completely across town and to—of all places—a Troll government building, the Troll Department of Investigation and Reform.

Thai's pretty naive, Brown thought.

"Go through that door," said the driver as the car stopped at the side of the building. The man croaked the words. Brown didn't like his voice either.

The spy walked across the bluish clover-like grass to the door and, as he had expected, it was opened for him at the precise time by his contact, Flovatow.

"Come with me, Gordon."

Brown had an almost overpowering desire to laugh out loud. This was the way it was done in the children's shows.

After a series of turns, Flovatow admitted the Earthman to a long, low conference room. Six men were seated at the table. He recognized one of them, Betoral, head of the Department of Investigation and Reform. The others were strangers.

Betoral took charge of the meeting immediately. "Well, Gordon?" He spoke in Intergalaca.

"As of this moment, ignoring the relative time displacements in travel, Earth will be saturated in three years, eight months and six days, Earth time."

An older man at the table said, "Incredible. Too soon by six months."

Brown continued, "The accelerating factor is, of course, water. The Bering Straits-Alaska dam will not last three years. It cannot be repaired because Earth cannot spare the water. When it goes, it will take almost a year to repair it. Earth will panic, fall into chaos before it can be repaired."

The doubter stared at Brown for almost ten seconds, then he nodded.

"However, all this is academic," Brown continued. "Earth will declare war on the '16' at least one year before this occurs."

"What?" There was genuine shock at the table.

"The government will not allow the planet to be destroyed without a fight."

"There is no chance…"

"Earth knows this, but her leaders prefer to 'go down fighting.' It is an Earth expression."

Betoral grunted, "We expected such an action."

That was it. After the master spoke, the others quieted. Betoral made Bill think of Herman Goering.

There were a few technical questions. Bill Brown answered the ones he knew, honestly pleaded ignorance on the ones he didn't.

"Thank you, Gordon," Betoral said, pushing a large package toward him. "Here's the money agreed upon. The other consideration will be delivered in half a year's time as discussed. That will be all."

Bill Brown stood up, picked up his package and turned to go. Then he heard, in the Trollian tongue, "Less than four years. The other four will be glad to hear this. Particularly Grendid."

He walked behind Flovatow to the door. "Goodbye, Gordon," said the Troll and the Earthman was free. He walked to the street and pressed a button on one of the lamp standards. So that was all there is to it? And I've got extra information, too. The planet Grendid is in on the plot. Five planets altogether. At last Earth would have something to go on.

The cab came, stopped. An attended one, but the Earthman didn't care. He had 10,000 Troll credits, after all. And I've passed on the phony information. They swallowed the water story. "Earth Embassy," he ordered.

As the driver dialed, Brown thought, I'll get this damn bomb out of my head and, if the government can figure out some way to use this information … if we ever do emigrate, Tl be one of the— One?

The driver had dialed a one, but there were no ones in the Earth Embassy taxi code!

He leaned forward. "Driver, I sad 'Earth Embassy'." The driver turned. It was the same driver who had brought him to the meeting. In his hand was an ugly blaster. "We are not going there, Mr. Gordon. First a probe and then a minor accident will occur. You will be quite dead." Probe!

If they give me a probe, I'll be dead enough anyway. "Now then," the cab driver continued, "here is a piece of paper and a pen. You will write what I tell you."

"Why should IT

"You should know about the amount of pain a probe operator could inflict. You would not like it."

"All right," Brown conceded after a few seconds. "I have my own pen."

"Use this one. Please make no unnecessary moves, we could probe a dead mind, you know."

Numbly Brown took the writing instruments. The bomb'll blow my head apart like a grape. I hope you're standing next to me.

The cab driver began his dictation. "I, Harry Gordon, am a traitor—"

Brown cursed himself. That's why they were so sloppy about everything. With me dead it doesn't matter. Stupid ass. I've blown the bit and my life.

"—to the Troll people."

Vic must have guessed part of this. Did he send me up here to get my head blown off? I've been played for a sucker by both governments.

"I have attempted to gain secret information—"

That's true enough, but Oxford Milling couldn't have had much hope that I'd get it. They probably figured if 1 got away with it, fine; if 1 got probed, fine—it'd teach them Earth was on to their spying.

"—for use by the Earth government."

And stupid me, I fell for it. What a patsy. How could the Troll people have been expected to trust Gordon? He might have gone to Earth, told them what he'd been asked to do, and become a double agent. Even if Troll was playing straight with Harry, they'd have had to probe him. Stupid, stupid, stupid.

"Therefore, realizing that I betrayed my Trollian friends—"

Like a babe. Like a lamb. Well, wait a second. Never mind who got you into this, it's up to the lamb to get himself out of it. How?

He "cheated" his fingers lower onto the pen, an actor's trick.

"I am going to take my own life—"

Perversely, he thought, There must be a market for good Troll suicide note writers—"take my own life"—trite. Well, lamb, here goes.

With the pen held low, the center of gravity was now above his fingers. As the cab shifted lanes he let it fall.

It stayed on the seat. Abruptly he reached for it, palming the pen with his thumb. He patted the seat, pretending to search.

^You fool."

"I'm nervous," Brown snapped back loudly, letting his painfully real emotions release in that one cry.

"You must be sitting on it," the driver snarled. "Get up slowly."

Brown did so with the pen carefully palmed. Lucky it's dark back here.

"Feel around behind you."

Brown sat down and shoved the pen under him, then honestly searched everywhere he could imagine a pen to be.

"You said you have a pen?"

"Huh? Oh, yes, I've got one."

"Will it match?"

Brown didn't want to appear anxious. The gun was pointed directly at his chest. "I think so." He reached for it, removed the cap slowly, twisted the two sections together as he had been instructed. The weapon was armed! He held it in his left hand, examining the point. Now the hard bit. Looking beyond the driver, he opened his eyes just a) little bit wider, moved his head back a sixteenth of an inch and tightened his facial skin fractionally. Under his breath, he muttered, "Funny."

For a split second the driver fell for it. His eyes left his victim. In that instant, Bill Brown whipped his wrist around, his thumb to the stud. There was a tiny whine, then an explosion as a cone of four inches of air and two inches of skull disintegrated. There was a second thudding sound as air rushed back into the vacuum.

The Earthman vaulted the seat, pushed the cancel button on the previous order. The cab pulled over to the curb and stopped. Brown grabbed the code book from the front of the cab, looked up the instructions for the Department of Investigation and Reform and dialed them. A few seconds afterwards the cab shot out into the proper lane and started for its new destination.

What now, little man?

He tore open the package of Troll money. It was phony; he knew that before he had leafed through the pile of notes. In fact, they all had the same serial number. Counterfeit money they must have confiscated, he figured. Hell, how do I get off the planet without money? He smiled grimly. You're swearing a lot, lamb. Once a man commits murder he soon drifts into more serious crimes. Who was it who said that? He took the wrapping paper from the phony money and, retrieving the driver's pen, wrote a note.

"Ambassador, I'm being held for 10,000 Troll credit ransom. There are five of them in on it, including one frOm Grendid. Please get word to Earth at once.

Harry"

That's playing a lot more fairly with Oxford Milling than they did with me. He knew the message would be relayed to Vic Hermitage and he wondered how Vic would feel when he got it. He addressed the other side of the paper in the Trollian language. Then he took the driver's money and papers from his inside coat pocket. He took the assassin's gun as well. Pressing the manual override he brought the cab over to the side of the street and got out.

Released from the override, the cab returned to its predetermined instructions, carrying its grim cargo back to the Department of Investigation and Reform. Brown grinned briefly at this grisly poetic touch.

He walked six blocks rapidly and hailed an attended cab, made a deal with the driver for delivering the message and paid the man. Then he walked a few more blocks to a large self-service notions store where he made a number of purchases. Good thing it's late and there are a lot of aliens in the city. With luck they wont remember me.

At the check-out counter he spoke Trollian because he knew Harry Gordon wouldn't have.

Still not trusting the cabs, he walked almost a mile to the poorer section of town and took a room for the night, paying for it in advance. In the room he showered again, then, naked in the dingy cubicle, under a harsh yellowish light he opened the packages he had purchased less than an hour before. One contained a blemish touch-up. He bathed in it, coloring his skin with the blue tinge of a Trollian native. After this, lie pulled a cheap cap from a second bag and put it on. Poor, he thought, but it should cover my hair and ears. The last package contained a small carrying case. He put the nearly empty blemish touch-up container and all the wrappings into the case, plus the towel he had used for the makeup job and the gun he had taken from the man he had killed.

Carefully he let himself out of the hotel's rear entrance and walked briskly away. Bells were ringing, the sound coming closer and closer.

Police.

Your sense of timing is still going for you, he thought as he watched the police vehicles snarl down the streets surrounding the hotel.

It was almost an hour later when Brown reached the huge monorail station in the heart of the city. He didn't enter the train departure area, but simply lounged around in the lobby until a train arrived. As the passengers filed out of the station, Brown merged with the travelers and boarded a limousine to the Pouray Hotel.

Less than half an hour later, as the Trollian sun was beginning to cast its light over the city of Zantin, Bill Brown checked into the luxury hotel. He got to his room and crossed into the bathroom, where he was violently sick. As an actor Brown enjoyed scenes of violent death—the shock, the import, the universality of a man's last moment gave such scenes validity. But tonight his life had been in danger and he had killed. The cab driver would never rise behind the fireproof curtain to live again. Brown's body stiffened in a final contortion and it was over.

Washing out his mouth with water, he threw himself on the bed and was asleep at once.

 

IV

Bill Brown tried to swallow, failed and gave up. He pressed the buzzer and waited.

"Come in."

Brown's brow wrinkled. That's unusual. Most people make a visitor stand in front of the view plate. He opened the door and entered the room.

"In the bedroom."

He walked slowly toward the open door. "Lise, it's me. Harry."

"Harry! But you're supposed to be kidnapped or something," she followed Brown into English. A moment later she appeared in the doorway, wrapped in a white fur robe. "Harry!"

"Is the disguise any good?" he asked.

"What is all this? First I read you've been held for ransom, then you turn up as a Trollian. That's just not like the old Harry Gordon I knew."

Brown took a deep breath. "I'm not." No reaction. Okay, new attack. "This is the brand new, 100 percent scared Harry Gordon who's going to get killed unless you help me."

"Sit down, Harry; I'll get you a drink." She crossed by him and the two walked into the huge hotel living room. "You're disguise is quite good. How did you manage it?"

"This is a permanent dye. For a day or so I used body makeup. The ears are built up out of plastic and the hair is a wig—I shaved my own."

"Here, thisil fix you up. Cheers." She handed him a large glass half-filled with a local whiskey. "What's happened, Harry? What's the real story?"

"Jeasil, Lise, I don't want you involved in this mess.

Let's just say my government and Troll have a difference of opinion and I'm a very expendable pawn in the game. And right now, Troll wants me expended."

"You could get sanctuary in your Embassy."

"I'd never get there. Even if I did, I don't want to spend the rest of my life locked up. I've got to get on board a ship leaving the planet."

"They'd spot you."

"Not if I went to some other planet than Earth. I could keep this disguise…"

"Not a chance, Harry. Don't you read the papers?"

He looked puzzled.

"They're taking the right-hand thumbprint of every departing passenger—as of yesterday. They'd have you in a flash."

Brown's knees almost collapsed under him. He found a chair and let himself sink into it. "Thumbprints?" But wait a minute—they'd be after Harry Gordon, not Bill Brown. Hope returned. Maybe…

She continued, 'Tes, they're detaining any passenger who isn't a Troll or a non-human. Your disguise is wonderful but your thumbprint would give you away. What'U you do nowF'

"I don't know," he said flatly, "I don't know." He sipped his drink. "Funny, isn't it, Lise? I'm condemned to die and all I can say is 'I don't know.' A man should be able to say more than that."

She knelt in front of him. "I'm sorry, Harry."

"I should be able to something great and beautiful. Tis not so deep as a well nor so wide as a church door, but 'tis enough. 'Twill do.' Or: ' 'Tis a far, far better thing I do than I have ever done before.' Or—" She was close to him now, her eyes warm and tender. The robe had fallen open slightly, exposing the curve of her breasts. Her beauty annoyed Brown. He was dying, and perfection was in his reach—a perfection whose tender, warm, sincere concern was for Harry Gordon, not Bill Brown. "Or: Let's make love."

"Who are you, really?" she asked afterwards.

^Whatf"

"Who are you? I know you're not Harry Gordon." She looked straight at Brown. "As a spy you should know better."

"Spy? You're kidding."

"Get out of here. A woman remembers how a man makes love long after she's forgotten his face."

Brown, you damn fool. "Jeasil…"

"Forget it. You can forget my helping you, too. Just get dressed and get out of here."

"Lise, I admit I'm not really…"

"Don't tell me any more; I don't want to hear it. Of all the low-down rotten tricks…" She walked angrily to her dresser drawer and pulled out a sheaf of bills. "Here. Is twenty credits enought?"

Brown's face prickled with heat as he stumbled out of the bed. "I'm sorry, Lise, but my life is at stake—where the hell am I supposed to draw the line?"

"Twenty-five credits then." She threw the money down on the bed and stalked off to the bathroom.

Brown stopped her at the door. Dropping his voice to his normal range, the actor dropped Gordon's cloying mannerisms, "All right, Lise. But you're a liar, too. You're not from Caddod. You are a spy."

She turned and stood silhoutted in the light from the bathroom beyond. For a moment she was still, her nudity accentuated in the backlight like a Clu Castile painting of 50 years before. She laughed, low and musically, "Of course I am, but I'm much better than you. A spy never turns to anyone for help. He doesn't let things happen; he makes things happen—the sooner you learn that the better. Now, since I have no specific orders concerning you, I won't turn you in unless you're here when I finish my bath." As she closed the door, "And how I need a bath!"

Brown left the room a few minutes later. But he took the twenty-five credits.

Troll, uncrowded, had a single work period. Monorail traffic peaked after the work day with ten- and twelve-car commuter trains whining out of the Zantin main station every few minutes. Shortly after the commuter rush slackened, the long-range trains, scheduled to take business men half-way across the continent overnight, flashed out under the darkening skies.

It was precisely at this moment, four days after he had taken Lise's 25 credits, that Bill Brown entered the station. Still in disguise, the spy was wearing a large cast on his right arm and a rather flamboyant scar on his forehead. Let's see anybody describe me further than those two eccentricities.

He picked up a copy of the single Trollian newspaper at a robot booth and was amused to read about his work of the night before. I'm developing into a real crook, he thought, three robberies in one night, not to mention the two credit cards I lifted in the hotel. He had almost 400 credits, enough to carry out his simple plan to get into the Embassy without being spotted.

Trollians rushing home after work jostled Brown as he sought a place to stand near the vending machines. Almost like Earth, he thought, crowded enough. He glanced at the clock. Only 13 of the short Trollian time units before Kandy should arrive. He thought back over the past four days.

After checking out of his luxury hotel within a few minutes of his scene with Lise (paying his bill so no fuss would be raised), checking into merely a good hotel, he had spent most of his time trying to contact Kandy. It wasn't easy. While Brown had been serving at the Embassy, Gonzolez had kidded him about spending too much time with Kandy at a particular restaurant. So, for three days, Brown, in his Trollian disguise, ate lunch there. Today he had spotted her and—fortunately—her Trollian escorts. He had hasitly scribbled a note in Gordon's handwriting and paid a waiter to place it on her table after he left. It had read:

"Kandy, if you love me, memorize this and burn it. Tell no one about it. Tonight, you must slip your 'shadows' and meet me by locker 1000 in the Monorail Terminal at 51:13. Take at least three cabs! Harry."

Bill Brown looked up at the station clock. Almost time, he thought. Kandy did burn the note, at least. He had watched her do that from outside the restaurant. Now all she has to do is slip the tail and get here on time. I've got the truck rental lined up for 02:40 tomorrow.

Bill Brown was nervous; he countered it by taking three deep breaths. It always worked on stage. He told his stomach to relax, observing at the same time that he was perspiring heavily. I stink. He began to wonder if Earthmen smelled differently than Trollians. The heavy cast doesn't help things.

But there she was.

Kandy Harris walked quickly toward locker 1000. Bill walked toward her.

"Don't look surprised, Kandy. It's me."

"Harry?" The young girl looked up at him, bewildered. "Where are they?"

"Who?" She is pretty, the uninvited thought came.

"You're Harry Gordon?" she asked. "Of course you are. But where are your kidnappers?"

"Kandy, I haven't been kidnapped."

"Your note," she protested, "and Director Betroal said—"

"Betoral?"

"Who else would I go to?"

It hit Brown in the pit of his stomach. She must have known about Harry Gordons defection! Maybe she even put him up to it. "Never turn to anyone for help," he remembered.

"Did you tell Betoral about meeting me here?"

"Of course, Harry, what's the matter with you?"

Two men approached the couple, their grim faces screaming "cop."

"Don't move, Gordon," one of them said and those three words were the last he spoke. Brown swung his cast around at the man and one muffled thump followed another as the spy shot both men in succession. Kandy screamed. For one brief moment Brown thought of shooting her— troublemaker—traitor—fool—-then he ran off into the crowd, heading toward the departing trains.

Immediately, all around the Monorail Station agents of Betoral closed in on their quarry. Still Brown had one ad-ge: the initiative was his. In a few seconds he was under the departure board, partially protected from pot shots from above. Brown didn't pause for a moment, but continued toward the entraining platforms. He could see that there was one train scheduled to leave right away.

Two guards flanked the exit gates. There was a muffled, excited announcement over the public address system. The guards moved forward.

Brown gestured to them. "Back there," he yelled. "A killer!" As the guards moved forward, Brown slipped through the gate. Stupid, thought the Earthman, then amended, human. Seconds later Brown ran onto the loading ramp and into the nearest monorail car.

"You just made it, friend," one passenger informed him.

1 wonder. Hurriedly, he moved through the car and hoped, with every heartbeat, for the train to start. They're bound to stop every departure. Then what'll I do? Bill Brown spotted an unoccupied compartment and ducked into it. From the robot ticket machine he purchased a ticket to the train's next stop and paid the bill with one of his two stolen credit cards. Hurriedly he removed the cast from his arm and removed the scar from his face, retouching the blemished area with a small jar of stain he carried. Immediately he threw the traces of his scar (a silicon putty), the credit card and the jar of stain down the toilet.

Then the unexpected occurred. Powerful electric motors wrested the train from inertia and the Monorail was in motion.

Nobody can be this lucky, Brown thought. There's a catch to it.

Under cover of the whining motors, Brown disintegrated his cast and hand gun with his pencil energy gun. A few moments later, after destroying all fingerprints from the room, he left, walked toward the rear of the train and entered another empty compartment. There he bought a ticket to an intermediate destination with the second of his stolen credit cards and sat down.

Two more murders, he thought, only now I don't even blink an eye. Spying builds character. Of course I won't be spying much longer—they can't possibly let this train go unsearched. We'll be stopped at the next station and all 1 gained in the other compartment is a couple of hundred heartbeats. Brown smiled. Strange, now that it doesn't matter anymore. 1 think I understand Harry Gordon as a character. A second-rater suddenly thrown up against the boss's beautiful daughter. Then, thanks to her stupidity and some clever Trollians, Gordon gets a chance to do something exciting for the first time in his life. He's to get the pretty, young princess, the money and the castle.

Yes, now I know Harry Gordon. He's me! Bill Brown grimaced. A second-rate bureaucrat, a second-rate actor; a bribe of a girl, money and position, a bribe of money and favored position. Hell, at least Gordon was to get a girl.

Flaws in his argument cropped up immediately, but he ignored them, noticing instead the slowing of the train. Brown stood up and examined the full timetable on the door of his compartment.

Stop for entraining passengers only, it read, one hundred and fiftieth street. And the next stop is the spaceport, he observed. Also for entraining passengers only.

Is it conceivable they haven't traced me to this train? he wondered. Even if they have, I may as well face it now. Opening the door, Brown walked to the end of the corridor and up the steps to the observation section, grimly noting the exit doors and how far he would have to travel in order to leave the train.

The long distance monorail trains had compartments a-long 90 percent of the length of the cars, broken only by the two exits at either end. The bottom quarter contained the motors and drive mechanism, the top 25 percent was all glass enclosed with individual seats equipped with robot bars. Brown got a good look at the station they were entering and did not spot any unusual activity. It's worth the old college try, he thought.

But the train didn't stop!

So that's it? Probably the search team meets us at the spaceport. Yeah, they've got it all figured out. And nopy I'll never know whose side Lise was on. Earth? Troll? The Council? Maybe that Zee-9-Oh planet that's run by women. He bit his lower lip as he remembered her beauty, her brains, her style. / missed a real chance there; all I brought to that bed was hate. What a waste—do we always waste the best part of our lives? He looked at his watch. I've got about jive minutes Earth time before . . .

Before what?

Before a lamb wastes five minutes and gets taken.

What was it Lise had said… "A spy doesn't let things happen, he makes things happen."

He stood up and walked to the end of the car and into the next one. There were only four men and women sitting in the observation lounge.

He cleared his throat. "Ladies and gentlemen, I regret to tell you there may be a killer on board…"

Director Betoral was on hand when the monorail train was boarded at the spaceport station. With justifiable pride he watched his team of 36 men enter the dozen cars of the train. It wouldn't take long. Fingerprints would give the Earthman away in moments.

For a few days Harry Gordon had made the Director look bad, but now the times had changed. All was working out nicely. Those two murdered men—a perfect touch —it would look good on the news media.

Already people were being cleared by his men. They were beginning to spill out onto the platform. He decided to enter the train, get a first-hand look at the proceedings. It would do his career no harm to be in at the kill. There was danger, but cowardice was not one of the Director's flaws.

Inside, all was organized and proceeding smoothly. Each man aboard was being searched and fingerprinted in turn.

"Oh, Director," someone called.

He turned, startled. It was a large, middle-aged woman who had called. She seemed to have a speech impediment, perhaps false teeth.

"Director, was one of your men aboard before we stopped?"

Betoral looked startled.

"There was a man who claimed he was."

"That's right," chimed in a man who was being fingerprinted. "He searched our compartments."

"What did he look like?"

"Your height, Director, but younger and perhaps 30 my-gars lighter," the man answered.

As the Director tucked in his stomach, the woman asked, "Would you like to see my compartment, Director? He did something strange there."

The Director's face pursed in thought. "Let's go," he said. She led him to the center of the car and opened the compartment.

"My clothes. Some are missing," said the woman.

The Director stiffened. "Of course. As a woman, Gordon might be able…" He paused, his eyes opened wide and his right hand reached for the powerful energy gun at his side.

"Know this before you die, Betoral. My name is Brown, not Gordon."

Betoral puzzled about this one millisecond. Then he died.

 


PART TWO

GRENDID


V

In the 124,900 block of the sprawling city that covered a large part of North America's east coast stands a modest 44-story office building. On the eighth floor is a three room office-bedroom suite with a single door leading to the corridor. The door is marked "Oxford Milling Sales Office" in gold letters outlined in black. Below, in poorly printed, black letters, "James Haggart, General Manager" and "Victor Hermitage." Of the five other members of the firm,, one was present. Her name was Suzanne Mikita. She looked up and saw the man called Haggart (it was not his name) enter the office.

"Vic in?" asked the short, stocky man.

"Yessir."

"Bring your recorder and come on back," he ordered and walked into the office with his name on the door.

Vic Hermitage stood up as his superior entered the room. Tall and handsome, he contrasted with the older man. "Was it bad, sir?"

"It could have been worse, they might have probed me."

"It was my idea, I'm the one…"

"It was our idea. It has taught me one thing: the combination of desperation and intellect is a tough one to beat."

"But it should have worked whether Brown won or lost

"I know the arguments, Vic, I've just used them on the President and the Security Council. The fact remains, a man in our employ has killed a high official of another world.

It's a cause celebre and not likely to win us any friends in the Council of 16. We need those friends, Vic, or we're going to die—as a world, as a race, as two individual human beings." He turned and looked at the girl as she entered the room. "As three human beings. Vic, you're going to Grendid. A ship leaves in two days with good connections."

The girl frowned, "But Brown must be almost on Grendid himself by now. Surely they 11 arrest him and return him to Troll for trial."

"Miss Mikita," said the stocky man who was not named Haggart, "our amateur spy couldn't have eluded the police force of a planet, either, but he did. He couldn't possibly have boarded a ship where they wouldn't admit anybody with Earth fingerprints, but he did. Now I'm reasonably sure his beginner's luck must give out sometime, but I'm not positive anymore, and positive is what we must be. Understand, Vic?"

"What are my orders?" the handsome man asked.

"Go to Grendid. If Brown is there, make sure he doesn't embarrass us further."

Vic looked uncomfortable.

The older man continued, "I know what you're thinking. 'The poor bastard, all he did was try to save his life'."

"I'd gone a long way beyond that, sir. He played fair with us and we didn't with him. It's as simple as that."

"It is not!" The man screamed the words. He stalked to the window and gestured outside, "It's as simple as that outside there. Population suffocation, that's what this is all about." He walked back to the center of the room. "And it's all about the hundreds of worlds we could emigrate to if only the Council of 16 would vote them open to us. None of this is about one man, not matter how brave or nice a guy he is. This is about the end of the world, Vic, and that's why you'll kill Brown in cold blood if you have to." He crossed to a large overstuffed chair and sat on the edge of it.

"Do you think I like it? We sent him up there. We put the bomb in his head and we were about 80 percent sure it was going to go off. He does the job we asked him to do and now we want him dead.

"Poor slob," continued the Director of Earth's seven member secret service, "I'll bet he's scared stiff right now."

Actually, the spy was more confused than scared. Bill Brown was on the last of the four shuttles to leave the parking orbit. Strapped magnetically to two flanking six-foot-six Rim spacemen, the five-foot-ten Brown felt he couldn't possibly be as dangerous as the Grendid press was making out. He had read the fax copies of the vigorous four-hour-lies, beamed to the ship during the orientation drops into regular space, and knew the official Grendid feeling was that Brown was enemy number one. They would be waiting as he left the shuttle with the deportation order and the farce would be over.

He had done his best to convince the Rim captain not to set him off on Grendid, but to take him on to one of the Rim worlds where no extradition agreement existed. No chance. The pressure from the Council of 16 was too great. So now, as the first bank of retros fired, Brown was very close to death.

They'll probably probe me here before they send me back to Troll, he thought. Only they won't be sending me back after that. The tiny bomb placed in the actor's head would take care of that. The first touch of the electromagnetic recording flux, and poof—scrambled eggs. Thirty-two is too darn young to die, he thought as he was forced back into the seat with the second firing.

The wings of the shuttle snapped open a few moments later, and after a dizzying second there was a reassuring feeling of gravity and relatively "solid" flight. The metal covering rolled back from the windows and the brilliant green of a Grendid sea was flashing by miles below. Brown peered past his guard's chest at the beauty below.

"Pretty, isn't it?" he said to the guard who first looked surprised, then returned to stern impassiveness.

In the center of the small shuttle ship, a video receiver flickered into life and an excited voice filled the cabin. In Intergalaca, the voice said, "The ship is now definitely within the atmosphere, ladies and gentlemen. Less than five chronos until we see Harry Gordon, the accused spy. While we wait for the arrival of the shuttle ship, let us briefly review the allegations of the Troll government." The television voice continued, "Harry Gordon was a clerk in the diplomatic service of Earth…

True enough. Until he became a Troll agent.

m, . . After Gordon returned to his Troll post following a long vacation on Earth, the man attempted to steal certain Troll information regarding that planet's position on Earth's entry into the Galactic Empire…"

Only Gordon was killed on Earth and a stupid itinerant actor named Brown looked enough like Gordon to take his place.

u… with particular regard to the opening up of uninhabited planets for Earth's use. Earth, as you know, claims it is suffering from extreme overpopulation and needs those planets for survival…"

Famine, panic, plague, riot, war.

"The Troll government claims one of their agents surprised Gordon in the act of stealing these secrets and was killed by the Earthman. Later, in escaping, Gordon shot two policemen in the rapid-transit station, then killed Betoral, the Director of the Department of Investigation and Reform…'*

"While they were trying to kill me," Brown muttered to himself.

"Then," the voice continued, "according to Troll, Gordon removed the thumb of the corpse and used it to escape a police blockade at the spaceport. He was carried from Troll to Grendid by a Rim spaceship. The Rim planets have no extradition agreement with the Empire, but the Captain has agreed to release Gordon to Grendid…"

And the probe.

Brown glanced out of the window and saw a coast-line, blue and hazy in the distance. The shuttle had dropped to perhaps 50,000 feet by this time.

It won't be long, o heroic one, he thought, then turned to the taciturn guard, "It is pleasant to hear so much about one's favorite subject."

The guard delivered what he must have assumed was a killing glance as the TV announcer continued, "The Earth Ambassador to Grendid…"

Brown sat forward and listened.

"… has refused to intercede for his fellow Earthman in any way, alleging that Gordon was not acting under orders from Earth.".

Bastards. But then, what could I expect?

"Here is Inspector Yxl Bpmn of His Majesty's Security Force who is charged with taking Gordon under custody." A second man stepped into range, staring defiantly at the camera. "Do you expect any trouble with this man, Gordon?"

The second man squinted his purplish face and answered, "We know how dangerous he is. We have taken all precautions. We have also received rumors an assassination attempt may be made on the Earthman's life. We have taken steps to insure this does not occur."

The announcer had been handed a note while the official was talking. "I have just been informed the shuttle bringing Harry Gordon is over the coast and has been cleared for a maximum descent landing. It will be here in chronos." He turned to the second man. "After Gordon is taken into custody, what then?"

"The government of Grendid has no official interest in this case. Gordon will be detained until a ship is ready to depart for Troll. That will be approximately ten days."

A third man burst into the picture. "Only you will not take this man into custody."

Brown perked up immediately.

The announcer recovered quickly. "And who are you?"

The newcomer, with what Brown acknowledged as superb showmanship, looked straight into the camera. He was young, shorter than the other two and his skin was a rich tan. "I am an attorney from the 'Equal Opportunity for Earth Association.' I hope to represent the Earthman."

Somebody on my side?

"Grendid is not trying anybody," said Inspector Bpmn. "We are simply detaining an Earthman named Gordon and returning him to Troll to stand trial."

"I trust you have some means of positive identification."

The television picture changed abruptly and Brown could see a dot high in the air. Inexplicably the spy was thrilled to realize the small dot was this shuttle. He looked out the window again and stared at the huge busy city below.

The shuttle had dropped to about 2000 feet and was circling out to sea again. There was a dizzying bank and the ship settled into a steep descent. The flaps growled their way against the slipstream. Brown glanced at the television screen again and marveled at the rock-steady fidelity of the long lens picture.

The ship banked again, a sign blinked to announce the landing, and Brown tensed. Wouldn't it be funny if we crashed on landing? He decided it wouldn't. The Earthman turned to the stiffer of his guards and asked him if this were his first landing.

"Quiet," the guard answered.

1 hit the chink in his armor—he is scared! "I guess you deep-space types get nervous at the sight of all this land."

"Be still."

"Friend, I will be dead in about two or three hours. Baiting guards is about as much enjoyment as I am likely to get." Blasted Intergalaca. Too damned stiff for the kind of things a man about to die should say. Language shapes people and nations. What kind of people could exist with a language you can't swear in? Or put prepositions on the end of sentences with?

Touchdown.

1 wonder what the "Equal Opportunity for Earth Association" is? It implies some people know Earth isn't getting

a fair shake and maybe—just maybe—they know Grendid is in on the plot.

The flaps started to crawl back into their shell, and the forward motion of the air-space craft slowed. On the television set a camera followed every movement of the ship. The guards unstrapped their flight belts, and then undid Brown's. The Earthman leaned back into the seat and thought about what he should do when the door opened. Two minutes later it did.

Pandemonium!

In the race to get to the Earthman, the government officials were at a disadvantage. As in any free society such as Grendid, they were concerned with getting a good press. The press, itself, never concerned with that particular problem, reached the spy first. Brown recognized the announcer he had seen on television.

"I understand you speak Intergalaca, Mr. Gordon," he said.

"Yes," said Brown, "and I imagine all of these people," nodding to the huge crowd, "are wondering why I have called them together this afternoon."

There was a dead silence broken only by another television announcer who was translating Brown's statement to his viewers who spoke only the Grendidian language.

Nodding his head to the granite-faced guard, the Earthman continued, "My producer and I are happy so many of you have turned out in our honor. We can promise you our new universal television series, 'The Spy from Earth,' will be well worth your viewing time."

"A television series?"

" 'The Spy from Earth.' We plan to record at least one episode here on your beautiful planet of Troll." One of the guards looked at Brown in amazement. What a straight man, Brown thought, then said, "Oh, I am sorry, that was Troll last time; I meant your beautiful planet of Grendid, of course."

If he had not been handcuffed, Brown felt he might have been able to part the crowd and walk away. They were stunned by the idea that this "affair interplanetary" could be nothing more than an elaborate publicity hoax. But by now, Inspector Bpmn had reached the scene.

"By the authority of His Majesty's Government of Gren-did, I arrest you, Harry Gordon of Earth, to be detained under guard until such time as we can release you to the duly constituted authorities of the planet Troll, which planet has charged you with murder, a crime subject to legal extradition between subject planets of the Galactic Empire." He paused, out of breath, then repeated in the Grendidian language. For the benefit of the home crowd, Brown thought. While the translation continued the attorney for "Equal Opportunity for Earth Association" fought his way to the Earthman.

"I am…" said the tan-complexioned lawyer in English.

"I know who you are. I appoint you my attorney."

The young man turned to Inspector Bpmn. "I request an immediate consultation with my client."

The Inspector grinned (on Grendid, it was a sign of disapproval), but ordered a man to search the lawyer, then cleared a space some 20 yards square and ordered the Rim guards to release the Earthman from his magnetic handcuffs. A moment later the two men were alone in the giant square.

"Talk quickly, quietly and through your fingers. They have directional microphones," the lawyer warned. "My name is Jmlp. Call me Jay."

"Got any ideas, Jay?"

"Not really. You are guilty, I suppose."

"Not of murder. They were going to probe me first and kill me for an encore. I call that self-defense."

"So do I. Do you have any ideas?"

"One. Would it make any difference if I'm not Harry Gordon?"

The tan-complexioned man made three clicking noises in his throat. "You bet your life it does."

That's exactly what I'm doing. "Well, I'm not."

The attorney for the "Equal Opportunity for Earth Asso-ciation" stalked to the Inspector. "What proof have you this man is Harry Gordon?"

"You can do better than that," clapped (laughed) the Inspector. "We have eye-retina photos."

"I demand that you check them with my client's eyes here and now—in front of the television cameras."

"We can do it later."

"Because this case is interplanetary in nature and involves a crime punishable by death, I demand you do the comparison in full view of the public."

Bpmn clapped his hands softly. "We are prepared to do this. Major Bgmp, bring up your equipment."

The crowd murmured. While the van containing eye-retina photography equipment was being moved into position, the young attorney explained what was going on to Brown, who didn't know a word of Grendidian. A few minutes later Major Bgmp announced to all of Grendid and the Inter Council Galactaca Network that this particular Earth-man was not Harry Gordon. "We're lucky so far," said Jay, "Major Bgmp is practically a national hero; any man less important might have lied. Here's where I go to work. Wish yourself luck."

For the next 15 minutes Brown observed his knight in shining armor as he pleaded, orated and argued the case. At one time, Jay produced a microfilm. from a brilliant red briefcase and snowed it to the Inspector and his retinue.

Finally Jay walked to the Earthman and said, "Let's go."

"You won?"

"On an ancient law that won't be on the books next year, I can assure you. There's a precendent for not accepting—what do you call them?—Bob Doe warrants where aliens are concerned."

"John Doe."

The lawyer nodded. "At any rate, you're free until they get a proper warrant. To do that, they'll have to get your eye-retina photo identified by Earth. They've started on it already."

The two men were walking away from the crowd now toward the terminal buildings. Police were clearing a way for them to the taxi stands as Brown asked, "That'll take them at least a few days. Can I get off of Grendid before then?"

"You could if they hadn't canceled all flights."

"What?"

"Not really. Just if you tried to get on one. You're stuck here."

"I guess I'd better get to the Earth Embassy."

Shifting the red briefcase to his other hand, Jay looked quizzically at the spy from Earth. "You really don't understand, do you?"

There was no answer so the attorney continued, "You're an interplanetary incident. Your planet is ashamed of this whole thing; they wouldn't let you in the Embassy if you were starving at their door. Frankly, they wish you were dead."

 

VI

The insidious thing about A99-6592VLR was that she was not beautiful—she was cute. Actually approximately 30 Earth-years old, she looked 16. Looking at her in her swimming suit one could spot the last traces of baby fat soon to disappear, leaving the female animal in her beautiful prime.

A99-6592VLR was finishing a vacation and enjoying it in the wild, capricious manner common to the carefully-bred aristocracy of Zee-9-Oh. She had been a spy on Grendid almost five years now. For her vacation, she was using the name of Tt Bvl.

She was lying in the sun with her current lover, Tkkd, a husky professional athlete, who had recently tied a record for an underwater speed race. A99-6592VLR picked herself up from the beach and walked back the short distance to the cabin she shared with the swimmer. She opened the door and crossed the room to pick up her suitcase. A

moment later she removed the lock mechanism and pulled the roll of tape from the lock. Lazily she read:

"Put plan C into effect. Earthman 'Harry Gordon' is decoy. Your job should make it possible."

"Plan C," she read out loud. "So it's come to that."

The door opened wide and the athlete stood, blocking the sunlight with his powerful, heavily-muscled body. "So it's come to what?"

She stiffened slightly, the tape, in accusation, hanging from her fingers.

The man continued, "I thought you got a message in that letter. Who is he?"

"Who?"

"The man."

"There is no other man. You're jealous; it's a sign of the very inexperienced."

"Let me see the massage."

"Sorry," she answered with no trace of fear and suddenly made a move toward her suitcase. In an instant the athlete was a blur of movement in interception.

A99-6592VLR had no intention of reaching for a weapon. She checked her action and chopped at the swimmer's stomach. Unprotected in mid-flight, he caught the blow and somersaulted onto the bed. She chopped again at his neck but the athlete was too fast. Her hand sank in the bed as he rolled forward.

Recovering as quickly as her adversary she jumped up, twisted her body to the horizontal, coiled her body and hit him in the back with both feet.

Both fell to the floor on opposite sides of the bed. He moved reflexively, ignoring the pain, leaping out full length across the bed to fall on her. As soon as his head cleared the edge of the bed, A99-6592VLR's legs shot up and caught his neck in a cruel scissors grip.

His momentum carried the two to the floor. Terrified at the threat to his breathing, the athlete made a mistake. His powerful hands grabbed at her legs. With a sickening thump his unprotected head hit the floor. She aided the impact by arching her back and pulling her legs down as he fell.

He gave one convulsive movement and then his body relaxed in death.

Bill Brown and Jay rode in silence through the famous mile-high canyons of Grendid's capitol city (which was also named Grendid). Finally Brown broke the silence.

"Where are we going?"

"Sanctuary."

Brown looked puzzled, so the tan-skinned lawyer fished in his briefcase again and pulled out a tiny television receiver. "Here, I'll bet the press already has figured out where we're headed. Tune in channel four, it's the Intergalaca station."

The spy took the set in his hands, and sporting the number four in Intergalaca, turned on the set. Instantly he was viewing his own cab scurrying through the dense traffic.

"There's a TV car right behind us," offered Jay, "with the police right behind them."

Brown placed an earplug next to his right ear and listened. "Yes," the announcer said, "it appears we were right. 'The Equal Opportunity for Earth Association' is taking the Earthman to sanctuary in the Galactic Church building."

"What?"

"You're familiar with Church sanctuary. It's an old Earth tradition, according to my readings."

"Of course. Plus ga change, plus c'est la mime chose," he muttered, then explained the French phrase to his protector.

"It won't be the best life, but it is a life."

"That's more than I expected." Brown bit his lip. "Funny. I'm not a very ambitious man. I was driven to everything I've ever done. I wanted a job that wouldn't be either 'made work' or something a machine could do better, so I became an actor. Then I get claustrophobia; I

want to emigrate from an overcrowded, smothering planet, so I became a writer to gain emigration status."

He turned and looked at the attorney. "I became a spy for the same reason. Amassing money or power means nothing to me. Women are too easy to represent anything more than a hobby—the only girl I've ever met I could fall in love with was in love with Harry Gordon." Brown clapped his hands. "Is that right, Jay? Is that laughter? How do you hold your hands to show it's ironic?"

"Why did you kill those four men?" Jay asked softly.

"To save my life. The thumb thing was a grisly touch, but I had to kill Betoral in order to escape." As the cab pulled onto an exit ramp in front of a huge stainless-steel building, Brown added, quite seriously, "He couldn't have cared what I did with his thumb."

The tan-skinned man stared at Brown for a moment, then dropped his eyes. "Here we are. Don't talk to the newsmen."

Brown opened the door of the cab and stepped out. Ignoring the crowd of 30 or 40 people milling about on the narrow walkway, Jay towed the Earthman through the mass and into the Church proper. Brown had time to read the large bronze sign beside the door, "Galactic Church of the Self—The Means is the End."

A few minutes later Brown formally claimed sanctuary and passed beyond a door forbidden to newsmen. A white-garbed neophyte led the two men to an elevator and they rode to the forty-third floor. A walk of another minute placed the three in front of a room marked 4391 in the Intergalaca numbering system.

"This will be your room," said the neophyte. "His Eminence will see you in about 35 of your minutes. I will return to lead you to him."

Jay opened the door to 4391 and held it open for the spy from Earth. "An interview with his Eminence? Very strange. If you have any trouble, get in touch with me right away." Jay indicated a communications machine. "I'll leave you my number. Anything else I can do for you?"

"No thanks, Jay, you've done enough—much more than I could have ever expected. Thanks again."

The lawyer turned and started to the door, opening it. Then he looked back, "Now that you're safely in sanctuary, what is your name?"

"Oh, that," the Earthman laughed. I'd wondered if you realized I hadn't told it to you by now. "Bill Brown."

"Bill Brown?"

"Yes, your Eminence."

"You have claimed sanctuary here," said the churchman, an old Grendidian whose face reflected the yellowish hues of the room's single light. "By the rules of my Church, I must grant it."

He might have phrased that more graciously, Brown thought.

"To pay for your room and meals while here, we shall assign a job to you as soon as we think such a move is compatible with your safety. What religion—if any—do you profess?"

"I am a 'Unitarian'."

"Is that one of Earth's 'Christian' religions?"

Brown paused, then answered, "There are Christians in the Unitarian Church. I am a Humanist." He translated the word into the stiffer Intergalaca.

"A strange religion for a man reported to have killed four men."

"On my planet religion has often been a reason to kill. In a sense, I suppose it was the reason I killed… that and my desire to stay alive. Would your Eminence care to listen to all the facts? I know you will respect my confidence."

"I would."

So Brown told him (almost) the whole story, leaving out the part about the bomb in his head, but including the gory de-thumbing operation. At the conclusion of his story, the elderly Churchman had thawed a bit.

"I shall attempt to verify certain portions of your story.

If you have told the truth, Mr. William Brown, I may be able to help you."

Bill practically floated back to his room.

Brown stepped into his room and pressed the button to close his door. Somehow he sensed—

There's somebody in here, Brown. They got to you already. Thwarting the adrenalin message, the Earthman forced his body to natural obedience as he tried to locate the intruder. Where?… Where?. . . Where?

The room was sparsely furnished, more like a prison cell than Brown cared to admit. A dresser, desk, a communicator, a bed, two straight chairs, an end table, one overstuffed chair and six small ugly pictures made up the decor. There was a door he had just closed, and, on his right a door leading to a bathroom. There was a closet but it had no door.

Choice: bathroom or bed? He turned and leaped through the air. They'll say I died with a healthy thought . . . Diving over the bed he grabbed out and caught—

A pretty girl dressed in the black Servants of the Church garb.

"Kill me. Kill me," she said before Brown's feet had hit the floor. "I deserve it. I have sinned against you."

Brown, whose timing had been thrown off after discovering the sex of the visitor, didn't say a word. He had landed hard and knocked the wind out of himself.

"I was not thinking," the girl didn't pause for breath, "spies like you eat girls like me for breakfast. My family will never hear of me again."

Bill stared at the obviously Grendidian girl whose skin was yellowish in color. She was kneeling now, pleading with the Earthman for her life. Her brilliant green eyes sparkled with a hint of tears. Not quite lovely, this girl in black looked young, healthy, and not quite bright.

"What—are—you?" panted Bill Brown.

She did not answer his question but offered him her right arm if he would not kill her for spying on him in his sanctuary sanctorum.

"Ssssh," he said.

She talked louder, "It is just that I have always wanted to see a bad man up close. They say evil can be seen, you know, if you know what you seek. But I cannot see it."

"That's because I am loyal, brave, clean, reverent, thrifty, honest, obedient . . •"

"You are?"

"Because then it must follow, as must the night the day, I cannot be false to any man."

"I am a girl."

"You jest."

Her big green eyes got bigger and greener. "It is the truth."

"What is your name, girl?"

"Kk.Kk Fvm."

"Well, Kk, do you know what men spies do to spying women?"

She clucked three times.

"What?"

"You rape us and then kill us."

"Only if the girl is pretty enough."

She pouted and they both stood up. She was a full six inches shorter than Brown's five feet, ten inches. He continued, "And while you are perhaps pretty enough to rape, you are not pretty enough to kill."

Kk stared up at the Earthman and finally broke out into a huge smile, "You are joking with me. I think you are not very evil; evil men do not joke."

"That is nonsense, little one, evil men make the best comedians. Now what are you doing here?"

"I—I just wanted to see you."

"What do you do here? As a Servant of the Church?"

"I run a computer."

Brown smiled. Then he clapped his hands to explain.

"I must go back to work," she said, making no move toward the door. "I think you are not evil at all."

"Never say that to a man; it calls for action." He looked down at her and smiled. "Do you live here in the building?" After she clucked her yes, Bill continued, "Maybe you could come back sometime and tell me about the church."

"I will show it to you."

Not while I'm confined to quarters like a school boy, you won't. But to save face, he said, "Good. I would like that, Kk."

"Goodnight, Bill." She mispronounced his first name as "Bull" because the Grendidians used only a single vowel in all their proper name constructions (Kk was pronounced simply "Kuhkuh"). She clapped her hands together softly and practically minced out of the room.

This has been my day to make friends, he grinned, throwing his shoes on the floor and stretching out full length on the bed. Jay and Kk and the Cardinal of Bishop or whatever he is. This morning all I had were people who were trying to kill me before they even learned my real name…

His stomach knotted in fear.

Name. Kk could have learned my name was Bull from gossip, but His Eminence wouldn't know Bill is a diminutive of William!

Sure he could, Bill told himself. He could have heard it on a newscast. Or maybe he's been to Earth sometime…

But the knot in his stomach remained.

"You say his name is Bill Brown? Barbarian sounding name."

"A very common one on Earth, Inspector," replied Jmlp. The tan-skinned attorney continued, "Lucky for us he wasn't the real Harry Gordon. I'm sure the press wouldn't have fallen for that weak little drama we had cooked up to free the Earthman."

J'The point is, ihe Earthman is free and right where we want him. Well, almost where we want him. That's your

job." Nervously Inspector Bpmn swallowed a tension pill. "Will he trust you?"

"He'll trust anybody who smiles at him. Poor guy. I almost feel sorry for him."

The Inspector tapped his finger on his head in mild censure.

"I mean it," Jmlp continued. "Just because Troll decided to play at spying, this innocent Jenovik ends up a grain of sand on the beach of politics." A Jenovik was a slow-witted, low-metabolism animal imported to Grendid as a pet. "He wasn't even told much of the truth by his own government."

"Governments are all the same; they never tell the whole truth to anybody because nobody wants to listen to the whole truth. You tell people what they want to hear. 'Earth is a war-mongering planet.' Say that often enough and our people begin to forget about our own wars before col-onialization. Now on Zee-9-Oh, they don't tell their citizens anything… that's one of the charming aspects of a dictatorship."

"Or a monarchy."

Both men applauded.

"A perfect example," said the Inspector, "of what I've just said. Our press tells us, our teachers teach us, that the monarchy is no longer a correct name for our government. 'Meritoracy' reigns."

"Today merit is defined as who best serves the king. I intend to be very meritorious."

"So do I. When will you try to move the Earthman?"

"About two weeks," the attorney answered. "He'll know a few hundred Grendidian words by then and something of our culture. Brown may be a Jenovik as an interplanetary agent, but he is no fool."

 

VII

Vic Hermitage was transferring at #-451 to a deep-space ship of Rim registry. There were ten passengers boarding the craft on Earth bound for Grendid. Eight of the group consisted of the Grendidian Embassy staff recalled by their planet because of the "affair Gordon." One man had been left behind, signifying no complete break of diplomatic relations, but the gesture was obvious enough to bring three newsmen along to cover their departure. The ninth man was a high government official of Earth, sent to salve Grendidian feelings with high-toned expressions of: 1. Ignorance of the whole action; and 2. Apologies for the action of which Earth was ignorant. Vic was the ringer, a businessman traveling to get bids on platinum imports from Gren-did's colonialized planet of Mordid. There was some sense in this cover; Mordid was exceptionally rich in platinum deposits and Grendid had little use for the metal.

A passenger already aboard the Rim ship, Nagoral of Troll, noticed that Hermitage was the sole businessman leaving Earth at this time. Nagoral was immediately suspicious, but then Nagoral's suspicions were easily aroused. He had been suspicious two weeks earlier when he received his orders to return to Troll without completing his proscribed mission on the Rim planet of Zori. Nagoral had asked himself, "Why, since this Earthman Gordon is but one man against an entire planet, should they send for their best assassin? Surely Betoral and his staff could handle a single man? True," he had reasoned, "they could not and Betoral is dead. But why send me to Grendid to kill the Earthman? Grendid is not such a planet of weaklings and fools like Troll—certainly they can handle the job."

The next question Nagoral asked himself carried a more logical reply. "If not to kill Gordon, why am I ordered to stop at Grendid on my way back to Troll? Because my enemies have arranged this delay to see to it I do not get Betoral's job."

Nagoral eyed Vic Hermitage again and asked himself, "What could I do that would be so spectacular I would have to get the job?"

His answer: "Hope Gordon manages to stay on Gren-did long enough for me to reach him. If not, find another enemy spy to kill."

Bill Brown stretched luxuriously and turned off the hypnotic language teacher. He looked at the calendar hanging on his wall and observed that this day would mark his twentieth on Grendid. He liked this planet and the people. Damn shame, he mused, when you get enamored of the enemy.

But why not? We retired spies are pretty worthless in battle. Still the thought nagged him. "A spy doesn't let things happen; he makes things happen." Maybe I could get out of here, dye my skin some gaudy color like the Grendidians do and hop a ship for Earth. Maybe Jay will come through with a plan to get me free—he keeps talking about one.

On the other hand, what would Earth do with me if I got-there? I'd almost have to bring some important information with me. What kind of information? Brown continued the question and answer game as he rolled out of bed. Information telling why Grendid opposes Earth's entry into the Galactic Empire. That hurts, doesn't it, Brown? Earth has a few years to go before it blows up from overpopulation and if we don't get some planets to colonize…

He stepped into his shower and pressed "nini." Instantly steaming hot water sprayed his body from five directions. He pressed for a jolt of detergent and laughed as the green stuff hit him. Half a minute later the water shut off and the bank of drying lights glowed on as jets of warm air blasted him from above.

Three minutes later the nude Bill Brown walked out of the bathroom into a fist.

The most lucrative role Brown had ever had as an actor was Val Linn on the Captain Red Rocket television show. He kept Captain Rocket in durance very vile for almost a month before right triumphed and Brown got his. There were two big knock-down-drag-'em-out fights in the series and Brown had enjoyed taping them so much he felt guilty about picking up his check. One of his favorite bits was the stomach blow where he tensed his stomach and let Captain Rocket really slam away. A big take and Brown would double over in well-deserved pain.

He saw the fist arcing toward him from his left and tensed his stomach in the last hundreth of a second. He had enough time left to note that the skin was blue.

Troll.

"Oooof," Brown said, not more than half in deception. He ducked his head fast, guessing—correctly—that the man's right hand would be smashing down with something heavy in it. He dropped to his right knee and hand, swing-gin his left hand into the rear of the Troll's left knee joint.

Off balance from missing Brown with his blaster, Nagor-al's entire weight was resting on his left leg at the time Brown hit it. It crumpled and he fell to the floor hard. With amazing presence, the assassin switched the position of his right hand as he fell. His finger sought and found the trigger but Brown was on him before he could turn the gun. Nagoral's outstretched right was broken by a sharp judo chop. The gun dropped on the floor.

Brown then raised his arm in a swinging blow to the Troll's face but it was telegraphed. Rolling quickly Nagoral caught the edge of Brown's hand with his left arm. The Troll tried to move his right arm but couldn't. As Brown chopped again, this time connecting with Nagoral's nose, the Troll kneed Brown in the genitals. Howling with pain, the Earthman swung his lower body away from the assassin and was clawed in the face by Nagoral for his unprotected retreat.

Bleeding and in terrible pain, Brown dropped his left hand and connected lightly to Nagoral's face as the Troll's feet caught the Earthman in the chest and shoved him up against the bed.

Nagoral knew this was his chance. His left hand reached for the gun, but with his right arm limp and useless his balance was off. Brown's foot shot and and hit his grasping hand. The gun slithered across the floor and into the bathroom.

Nagoral reached into his shirt pocket for his energy pencil, desperately kicking at the Earthman. Suddenly he saw Brown bounce off the bed over his legs and he saw the Earthman's feet descending…

Still in pain, Brown first retrieved the energy pencil from the Troll's limp fingers, then the blaster (it was pointed, ludicrously, at the toilet), before he rang for help. Proper to the end, Brown shoved his feet into a pair of pants, then sat trembling on the bed, pointing the blaster at the Troll, wondering if he had the strength to pull the trigger.

Two of Grendid's finest, one dyed green and one dyed a deep orange (whatever happened to our men in blue? Brown wondered), led by a tan-complexioned no-nonsense neophyte came to take the Troll away. Nagoral was barely conscious as the policemen carefully lifted him to his feet.

"I should have shot him," Nagoral said in the Troll language, which Brown alone understood. "Glory has finished me."

What'd he mean by that?

Brown handed over the blaster but said nothing about the energy pencil. As the Troll assassin was at the door, he turned and asked in Intergalaca, "Why did you let me live?"

In Troll, Brown answered, "Why not?"

Two hours later Bill Brown returned to his room to find his teacher still waiting for him.

"What happened to you?"

"I nearly got killed, Gr."

Gr Fnt had been sent by the Equal Opportunity for Earth Association to teach Brown the Grendidian language. Wryly, Brown noticed the orange-skinned slightly plump beauty was even now asking her questions in Grendidian.

"Your face, Bill."

"Was never beautiful. Fortunately I am lovely inside.**

"I like it."

"Before?"

She rushed to him and curled her tongue around his right ear in a Grendidian kiss. "Are all Earthmen so cruel?"

Nobody ever says anything like that. Maybe it's because there's no answer for it. Maybe cryptic… very basso profundo.

"Are all Grendidian teachers so passionate?" The last word he didn't know so he substituted the Intergalaca e-quivalent.

She corrected him automatically and turned away. "I'm sorry."

"Don't be."

It wasn't that Brown wasn't interested. It was simply that he enjoyed Kk so much he hadn't really thought about another girl. He and Kk had been lovers from the third day, as soon as he had discovered the Galactic Church had no moral restrictions against sex. Kk and Gr were almost look-alikes, short by either Earth or Grendidian standards, big-breasted, cute rather than pretty, but the similarity ended with physical appearance. Gr was intelligent; Kk was so scatterbrained Brown wondered how she could possibly run a computer. If he had not met them both at the same time, Brown had no doubt he would have chosen the language teacher. Both seemed attracted to him and this puzzled the Earthman.

Brown knew, as few ordinary-looking men ever discover, that being handsome is an optional attribute in the great game. It's nice, but it's not required. As an actor he knew that being somewhat exotic helps the cause. So it was possible these two "little women" (Brown's term) could have fallen for him.

But.

You have to stay suspicious to stay alive nowadays, Brown, my boy. Let's make something happen.

"Gr, I'm sorry I haven't paid you the kind of attention you deserve." He came up behind her and put his arm around her waist.

It's just that you almost died today, Bill, and I had hoped—" she paused, obviously demanding a question.

He refused to oblige. He nibbled her ear instead.

"I had hoped that maybe…"

He kissed her on the mouth.

She wrestled back slightly, mouth apart, eyes wide, "I told you that on…"

"I know how you kiss on Grendid, but you're in an Earthman's bedroom."

"I had hoped you'd make love to me.'*

That wasn't what she was going to say.

Laughing, he released her and walked to his large chair. "You're safe with me today teacher. If it weren't for a local anesthetic applied in a rather sensitive area, I'd be writhing on that bed in agony. We were going to talk about political history today."

Now let's see you turn the conversation around to where you want it.

She didn't. They talked of Grendid's political setup, how the monarchy had meant simply a figurehead form of government until the present King Zz had revived the power of office, how the huge civil service was selected by computers unanswerable to men, how jobs were selected for all and how Grendid's huge population was syphoned off to its ten-planet colonial empire by the same dispassionate machines, how Grendid's powerful agressive drive (and high birth rate—almost as high as Earth's) had made them the strongest member of the Council of 16.

"Why do you suppose Grendid opposes Earth's entry into the Empire?"

"Don't you know?" she asked, not denying the accusation at all.

"I can guess but I still don't understand it. Fear?"

"Partly. Earth is perhaps slightly more aggressive than Grendid. But Earth is still several generations behind Grendid in terms of scientific and organizational growth."

Because our population is at a critical level and all our

recent efforts have been for simple survival! "Then why fear us?"

"Our king has a sense of history." She looked at her watch. "I must be going. I'll talk to you about it tomorrow. I've brought you a new language tape." She pulled the huge reel from her shoulder bag and left it on the table. "Your grasp of our language is amazing for such a short study."

"It's quite similar to my own language," he answered.

"Take care of yourself," she said, kissing him goodbye, "I don't want anything to happen to you. I really mean that."

I think you do. "Goodbye, Gr." Now if I only knew why. "I'll see you tomorrow."

Bill had lunch with Kk in the main commissary. The Church had given Brown freedom of the floors above six after one of the eleven-day Grendidian weeks. After eating, Bill explained for the fifth time that he had not been badly hurt.

"You didn't even call me."

"I didn't want to worry you. Look at your plate; I got beaten up and you lose your appetite. If I'd called you this morning, you'd have blown every connection in your computer. Kk, is there a TV studio here in the Church?"

"Thirtieth floor. Why?"

"I told you I used to be an actor."

A girl friend of Kk's came running over to their table. "Bull," she bubbled, "have you heard? The man who tried to kill you killed himself. He sent you a timed message before he died."

"Timed for when?"

He didn't have long to wait. The church's P.R. Director contacted him a few minutes later and asked if Brown would permit the press to interview him at the message time of 1500. Bill answered that he would accept two newsmen in the Church's TV studio to observe the recep-tion of the message, but warned them he would probably not reveal its contents.

About this time, too, he received a scrambled phone call. Total words exchanged: 39.

"Bill. It's Vic. I want to see you.'*

"Vic Hermitage?"

 

VIII

His Majesty liked to hold meetings at night. Everything King Zz of Grendid did, he liked to do with a dramatic flair. Tall, gaunt, with huge circles under his eyes, the King entered the meeting room through a sliding panel, flanked by two non-humans, huge four-feet-tall rodents from the planet of Arnow. The King's skin was a brilliant red and the lights in the room accented it. The Arnowians' shiny black coats glistened, the chrome steel of their voice units flashed, their quick black eyes glowed in the light. The other six men in the room started to rise.

"Remain seated," ordered the King. "We will begin with your reports. Kmpp?"

A short, chunky man got to his feet and announced, "The reassignments of political undesirables are proceeding on schedule. Of the 32 names you gave me, 18 have been shipped to our colonies, two have been demoted with cause and one man has committed suicide. The others will be removed as their birthdays come up and the master machine makes its required review of their work. My own superior will be removed to Onoragon within two weeks."

"Good. Then I can meet with you, at least, in public. The man who committed suicide, Mngl, did he kill himself because he grasped our intent?"

"Yes, your Majesty, but we substituted his last words as you no doubt know."

"Yes, quite a scandal. Were the details true?"

"Quite. I left out three women because I thought the truth was perhaps unbelievable."

The King smiled. "Bpmn? That attempted assassination of the Earthman. How did it happen?"

"There is no excuse, your Majesty."

"I'll judge that. What happened?"

The Inspector shifted his weight to his right, then his left leg. "The Troll arrived in the morning, went straight to the Church. We received word of his arrival—he is an official assassin of Troll, so naturally we knew him—but by the time the report had been filed into the computer and its warning message read, it was all over."

"Interesting that the Earthman could survive an attempt by a professional. I wonder if he is the amateur we have imagined…"

"Perhaps your Majesty would be interested in the timed message sent to the Earthman. The middle section was a warning that another Earthman, name Vic Hermitage, is also planning kill Brown."

The King clapped his hands twice, "I thought timed messages could not be intercepted."

"They cannot, your Majesty. But he did write the message in one of our jail cells; we pressure-sensitized every surface on which he could have written his message."

"What precautions have you taken to protect Brown from the other Earthman?"

"His room is double-wired and we have two agents on duty across the street at all times."

"Would they be in time?"

"The computer says Hermitage will talk to Brown before killing him. There will be a lot of information Earth seeks from their amateur spy."

"You allowed the Trollian to commit suicide to avoid an unpleasant incident—a wise choice. Unfortunately, that wise choice stands out in a sea of inferior ones. Remain standing, Bpmn. Jmlp?"

"Yes, your Majesty," began the tan-skinned attorney. "I have seen the Earthman nine times since his arrival. Each time I have reported progress on a plan to get him off this planet and back to Earth. I believe he trusts me completely. Upon your Majesty's order, I will bring him to you."

The King took a step closer to Jmlp. "You have arranged for him to learn our language?"

"Yes, my Lord. Brown is an amateur spy, as we know, but he is an intelligent man. I don't believe he would leave his sanctuary without some skill in the language."

"That would imply he doesn't trust you."

"Your pardon, my King, but I cannot agree. The Earth-man is merely trying to create more favorable odds in his bid to escape. Language instruction was the first thing Brown requested of me."

"Never mind. My real concern is this: whom have you chosen to teach him the language?"

"A member of the 'Equal Opportunity for Earth Association," Anyone else would have been suspect."

The King made a strange noise in his throat and one of the rat-like aliens jumped to a projector. A picture of Gr Fnt filled the left side of the screen. "Is that the person teaching the Earthman?"

"Yes, your Majesty. Her name is Gr Fnt."

"Is it?" Again a clicking noise and the right-hand side of the screen blazed with an ID picture of a woman identified as A99-6592VLR. Skin color, hairdo and clothing were different, but there could be little doubt—

"They're the same woman," the King said. "Zee-9-Oh is meddling again. Vnlv."

A third man stood.

The King nodded to the middle-aged, blue-complexioned man who immediately began to talk. "Zee-9-Oh is the only planet whose power threatens us within your lifetime, my Leige. Being a matriarchy, they mistrust the ability and integrity of all men."

The King turned to one of his alien companions and said in a loud stage whisper, "You see, I am surrounded by fools. It is true, Vnlv, that Zee-9-Oh is a matriarchy, that their leaders hate Grendid, although I doubt that one is the sole causal factor for the other. But when you say that Zee-9-Oh is my only important enemy you are indeed a fool. Have you forgotten two incidents which occurred many thousands of days ago? Earth sent a spaceship to try and reach the Galactic Empire. We intercepted it with two ships and blew it out of the skies (if you will permit the metaphor). Much later a second ship was sent. Again we intercepted it, this time with five ships, including three of our largest and best-equipped warships. Again the Earth vessel was destroyed. One of our ships and 50 other survivors returned to tell us it was so." The King paused. "Earth has between 50 and 100 such ships, with another being made ready every 73 of our days. Mnpj, how many ships have we?"

A fourth man stood. "More than three hundred, my Lord."

"First line craft?"

The man's eyes broke contact. "Perhaps 30."

Jmlp could not remain quiet. "That Earth ship was captained by an Earth hero."

"You think a planet with a population as large as Earth's cannot produce a hundred heroes? The ships will be staffed with heroes; if we were to kill every man aboard but the cabin boy, we could lose another of our rusty, ill-armed antiques to his fire." The King paced the room, "But one thing at a time. I wanted to examine the Earth spy to find out why he came to Grendid. Jmlp says it was the first ship leaving Troll. This is true; I have had that verified. Still he could have come here because he knew we were behind the Council's refusal to open up planets for Earth's emigration. Another three thousand, four thousand days and Earth will—it must—destroy itself.' He poured a large drink of whiskey imported from one of his colonial planets. "Or send that fleet against the people they hate most." He drank a full third of his glass. "Grendid is the logical target. Would we survive such a battle?"

Mnpj shuffled his feet.

"Well, Mnpj?"

"The computer says we have a 47 percent chance. That is, if we receive no help from any other planets."

"And what other planet of the Council has a fleet worthy of the name?"

"Henrod has a small but deadly fleet of perhaps 20 first line craft."

"And they hate and fear us and vote for Earth's admission into the Council."

"Yes, Sire. Of those planets voting with us, Jad-3-Me

"They despise all humans and would love to see Earth and Grendid both atomic rubble."

"The only other major fleet is that of Zee-9-Oh."

King Zz clapped his hands three times in a rhythmic pattern. "I hope some of you are now beginning to understand what I now face. Part of your ignorance has been my fault."

Eyes widened imperceptibly around the room.

"I had felt that you could serve me best if I kept you working in separate areas. I am quite sure you are aware of my desire—some have called it an obsession—to regain the honor of glory of my office. I feel my destiny lies in making Grendid the most powerful planet in the Council." The King's words begain to accelerate, tumbling from his mouth as he expressed the thoughts he felt most sincerely.

"You might say we are now the most powerful, and I would agree with you. But that is the strength of a monarchy. Democracies and bureaucracies and dictatorships may offer the best form of government at any one given moment, but a monarchy is the one form of government that is committed to the future. I want future King Zz's to rule the strongest planets in this sector and perhaps the Galaxy itself. If that happens, they will look back at these times, at me and my staff and say, 'There is where it started. We owe him our present glory.' That is all I ask for my work in this soul-destroying job.

"If Earth were a puny planet I would have sent ships to help them emigrate. Because they have some greatness hidden in among their barbarism, I must not give them the chance to achieve it. It is ironic that I must destroy people in whom I find much to admire. Have I confused you?"

The red-skinned ruler of many planets walked to Vnlv. "Tell me, my expert on Zee-9-Oh, what do they want with the Earthman?"

"Perhaps they, too, wish to know if Earth suspects them."

The King stared at his advisor, "I don't think so. Let me give you one more fact: we have recently been trying to feed information to Earth that we have always voted for emigration rights in the Council of 16. They may not believe us but we have tried to raise a question, at least, in their appraisal. Now, does anybody see what I am leading up top'

Jmlp cleared his throat. "I think I do, my Leige."

"Tell us your theory."

"You are concerned by the power of Earth's fleet. If Earth attacked both you and Zee-9-Oh, Earth surely would be defeated. Still, Earth might win against either planet alone… or cripple us badly even in losing."

"Excellent," the King said. "Go on."

"I'm not quite sure of this next part but I think Zee-9-Oh would try to make Earth think Grendid is her enemy."

"And try to get Earth to attack Grendid. Exactly. But how?"

The attorney took a deep breath. "If I were Zee-9-Oh, I would implicate the Earthman in a crime against Grendid." And, in a very small voice, "I would assassinate you."

The King sucked in a breath of air, then caught himself and squared his jaw. "Of course. I didn't think of the obvious; Zee-9-Oh kills two enemies with a single shot."

The purple-skinned Inspector promised protection.

""It's not my life I'm concerned about. A King is always in danger."

"We can protect you against the Earthman."

"It won't be the Earthman, it'll be A99-6592VLR who will plan my execution; she is a foe worthy of most men.

She killed Yglf and Pimp of your staff, Inspector. Still, I believe we should stop her by removing the key cog in her plot. Inspector, call your men off the other Earth-man. We will let him kill this Bull Brun, then we will say we allowed it to bring good relations between our governments. Zee-9-Oh will lose her chance to play off her enemies against each other and we will have bought time against Earth. It's crude, but the simpler the plan, the less chance to be ruined."

"What if Brown kills Hermitage?" asked Jmlp.

"We kill Brown and tell Earth we did it in the name of peace. We probe him first, however."

A99-6592VLR had, of course, noticed the two men following her. In order to act tonight, the men would have to be removed. It mattered little if Grendid's officialdom understood the truth of her actions—what mattered was a smooth job with no evidence pointing to Zee-9-Oh. Without evidence, the press (and therefore all of Grendid) would be forced to accept the simplest explanation of what was to happen. Earth would be implicated and the powerful and power-crazed King of Grendid would be dead. A pleasing prospect, thought the spy.

She walked to the window of her 92nd story apartment and voided its one-way opacity, then stared out across the busy street and began to disrobe. One of her two guards would be across the street, observing her actions with a spy light which would let him see through the oneway glass. The other would probably be downstairs in the lobby her her building. She had taken great pleasure in teasing her watchers for two nights running. Now she warmed to her work, wriggling sensuously out of a stretch band which covered her upper torso. Is he going to fall for this? she wondered. Or am I sexy enough? The Earth-man wouldn't tumble. Maybe I'm losing my touch.

It was a rule of common courtesy to call and inform a person if his window were not opaqued. Thanks to a huge telephone computer, it was easy to obtain the telephone coordinates of any apartment from its location. Gr's (to use her present name) apartment number, as in most of the modern buildings, was stenciled outside her window for just such a reason (and others, but the government kept quiet about those). An instant tracing device and a fast police force kept crank calls to a minimum. She removed her short shirt and threw it onto a chair. Then she moved out of the window area and poured herself a drink of colored water and stepped back into view again. Just to even the odds, male. Maybe thinking I'm drunk will help you make up your mind. She toyed with her bra, then decided to remove her pants first. Suffer, beast, she thought, executing extremely suggestive movements in time with sipping her drink. Call, you bastard, and she put down her drink and slipped out of her bra.

Give up man, I'm out of clothes, she thought and the telephone blinked (before 2000 local time it would have buzzed).

Indolently she flounced to it and activated the set, throwing an arm across her breast. "Whatisit?" she slurred.

A man appeared on her screen. It was one of her guards! "Excuse my violation of your privacy," he said, keeping his eyes on hers, "but your window is transparent."

She turned to it, carelessly letting her hand slip. "Ill be blasted. It is. Don't go away; I'll fix it." She sauntered out of sight and adjusted her window. Returning to her communicator, she wore a practically transparent overgarment. "Say, I don't suppose you wanna come over an' hava lil drink wi' me? I get lonely here on Gren…" She pulled herself up short as would a good spy about to reveal a secret. "I mean I get lonely at bedtime. Come on over. You deserve a lil drink for keepin' me lookin' like some silly naked…" She trailed off.

Eyes slightly out of focus, she almost laughed as she read his face. In big booming letters it spelled out: MY BOSS WOULD NEVER BUY MY GOING OVER FOR "SOCIAL" REASONS BUT SHE'S DRUNK AND MAYBE SHE'D TELL ME WHAT SHE'S UP TO BECAUSE

I THINK I COULD GAIN HER CONFIDENCE. OH, COULD I!

"Well, maybe I could come over for a quick one," he said.

"Hurry. I'm in apartment 92301. See you soon, han'-some." For his benefit she stared at the window after she hung up and kept sipping her drink. Then, as if still under observation, she staggered to the liquor-drug cabinet and poured herself a real drink (so her breath would smell) and prepared a second glass. Then she "prettied up the room," moving with the grace of an elephant. She also brought a small travel bag from under the bed and placed it under the bar. A few minutes passed and the door light flashed twice. She pressed the button by the bar and it opened.

"Hello," she said. "What're you here for?"

They both laughed and he kissed her hard and fast as his hands raced across her body.

"I don't need a drink. All I need is you."

Backing away from him, "You'll probably gonna get me but no so fast—it's not ladylike. On Zee—I mean, where I used to live, men were more gallant. Of course they were lousy in bed, you know wha' I mean? Hava drink?"

She could see a slight trace of suspicion so she grabbed the bottle and put it to her lips, chugging two big swallows of the whiskey. Then she poured it into his glass. "You get a glass 'cause your're the man and where I come from you treat men right. Courteous. Even if they don't amount to much. I drink to Grendid's men!"

He hesitated no longer. SHE'S GOING TO TALK AND I'M GOING TO GET EVERYTHING I'M HERE FOR. He took two big swallows as she tipped back the bottle again.

"Make love to me," she said, stepping into his arms, and he obliged. At least he tried to oblige. He was dead from the poison on the bottom of his glass within two minutes.

Staying out of range of the window she dressed in shorts and a torso band, then she put a dressing gown on over the outer clothes and ran out of the room to the elevators. A minute later she was in the nearly empty lobby running as if in panic. She ran straight to the man she recognized as her second guard and blurted, "A man in my room. He's sick. You've got to help."

The guard bristled with suspicion but played along with her. "Okay, let's go." Warily, his hand hovering over his tiny secret-service blaster, he followed Gr to the elevator. He had determined that she had nothing in her hands, and there were no pockets in the gown. As far as he knew, she was naked under the gown—even if she were not, she couldn't reach a weapon before he could draw and fire. She reeked of alcohol and walked unsteadily. Could something have happened to Cbdc?

They entered the elevator. She muttered, "Ninety-second floor."

Automatically, he reached for the button. As he did she judo-chopped at his neck. The man was big and built solidly. He managed to turn and face her. She chopped again at the top of his nose as she, brought her knee up into his groin. He lost consciousness before the elevator door closed. A99-6592VLR was forced to remove the guard's gun and kill him with a pencil beam as the elevator raced past the 80th floor and became a local car. There were no stops: the spy was in luck (or more accurately, everybody else was in luck, since she would have shot any person she saw).

On the 92nd floor she muscled the large man from the elevator and to her room. In spite of her tremendous strength and drive, she was exhausted as she reached the door. Her fingerprint checked and the door unlocked. A moment later she hurled the second corpse into the room and closed the door. Removing her gown, she picked up the traveling case, examined herself in the mirror, patted a few stray hairs into place and looked at her bureau clock. 2172.

"Now let's go see the new day in with Bill Brown."

She walked to the door, stepping over one corpse, star-ing at the other which was lying on the bed. I must get them to develop a poison that works only half as fast.

 

IX

Gr presented a card at the Church employee's entrance and was admitted by the identification machine. The corridors were nearly empty as Gr entered the main entrance to Brown's wing at 0001 in the morning. One other passenger rode in the elevator that took her to Brown's floor. A brisk walk and she paused in front of the Earthman's door to place a surrogate plastic finger in the automatic door lock. It opened.

He's asleep. Hypno-speaker on. Good. Soundlessly she moved to two locations in the room and placed small metal bars in the spy circuits she had spotted days earlier. An open circuit would be noticed immediately. Now there would be only silence.

She stood up and walked to the bed. "Freedom and justice," she said. "Bill, freedom and justice."

Bill's eyes opened but the eyes didn't see.

"Get up. You will obey me without questions; only I can save your life." Good. No clothes to take off. "Come with me." As she led Brown into the bathroom she picked up a large bottle and a small one of skin dye from her traveling case. In the shower she bathed the Earthman with a brown dye from the larger bottle. When she completed her work she led Brown to the center of the bathroom and washed as much of the dye away as possible. Then she poured the small bottle of blue dye onto the shower floor and washed that away. That may confuse them.

"All right, my brown Brown, come with me. I think you may appreciate the pun." In the bedroom, she removed the tape from the hypno-teacher and disintegrated it in mid-air. She took another tape from her bag and put it on the machine. They'll probably figure out how I got control of you, but why help them?

"Get dressed in these clothes," she ordered, removing a worker's coverall from the case. She sat on the bed.

Suddenly she stiffened. She was sitting on a blaster.

"Where did you get this gun?" she asked.

"I took it from an Earthman named Vic Hermitage."

"Where is he? Why did he come here?"

Staring straight ahead, Brown answered, "He is dead. He came here to kill me and I killed him."

Why didn't 1 knopy about this? What does it do to my plans? "Did you talk to the man before you killed him?"

"A little."

That's the trouble with hypnosis. You have to ask the right questions. "Did he tell you why he was trying to kill you?"

"Yes."

She sighed and bit her lip. "What did he tell you?"

"Earth is embarrassed by my presence here. Since I killed a Troll government official, it appears Earth is trying to influence or terrorize the Council of 16. I had to be eliminated."

"How did you keep him from killing you?"

"He didn't know I was armed. I stole an energy pencil from the Troll assassin. I also knew Hermitage was trying to kill me. The Troll told me."

So that was what was in the timed message, "Where is that energy pencil now?"

He handed it to her and she placed it in the case. "Let's go, Brown," she said and led him out of the room. She encountered no one in the elevator and, when a passerby stared at Brown's slow, shuffling walk, she clapped and made a drinking motion with her hands. She expected no trouble and found none.

With Earth's many billions, Brown's planet had gone to a four-shift society just to fit everyone into the available space (and, less successfully, the available jobs). Grendid, even with their colonial planets as safety valves, was a crowded planet, but they managed to maintain a three shift society with 0000 to 0500 the off period. Only essential workers and people searching pleasure were out on the streets at 0058, as the spy from Zee-9-Oh led the spy from Earth out of the Galactic Church building.

Taxis had free access to the huge Church building all 22 hours a day, but now, during the few hours when commerce and industry were expected to sleep, they could roam all the city, both answering calls and delivering their charges. Gr walked at least six blocks with Brown before pressing the green button on the wall panel of a bank. A few minutes later a robot taxi stopped and "encabed" the two spies.

By 0219 Brown had been in four taxies and had walked an extra 14 blocks. On the way Gr prepared a post-hypnotic command for the Earthman and handed him the "props" he would need from her case.

"Cdgt Helicopter Rental," said the clerk to the brown-skinned man and the orange-skinned girl who entered his store.

"I want to rent a two-place sports model," said the man. "Here's my license and the money, including reserve. I want to take delivery in ten minutes."

"Surely, Mr. Tkkd. May I please have your fingerprint here? We could bill you if you prefer."

"I don't prefer. What time will I get the 'copter?"

The clerk turned, looked at the clock, did a few rough calculations and turned back as his brown-skinned customer was wiping the colorless ink from his hands. "About six minutes is all, sir. We stress fast service." He pressed a few studs on a card-writer, placed the cards in a slot and waited for a count of three. "You machine is being fueled now, your license is in full force and your credit rating is excellent… but your money is equally welcome," the clerk hastily finished.

"We'll meet you on the roof," said the girl and the two left.

Of course all hell was breaking loose on Grendid by now.

To begin with, when the agents watching A99-6592VLR did not make their usual half-hourly check, Inspector Bpmn was worried. When an hour passed with no report, he took action. There was no one at the lookout, obviously, so he and his staff observed the suspect's room through their high-powered glasses. Nothing. Although this was probably as it should be, Bpmn didn't buy it. A few minutes later the police team opened the woman's apartment and discovered what had happened to their operatives. A city-wide alert was set into motion at 0037 and the King notified.

Obviously the next step was to check Brown's whereabouts. The monitors on Brown's room had reported that Vic Hermitage had arrived and talked to Brown. The television was on and not all their conversation was recorded, but later they had heard Brown kill his fellow Earthman and disintegrate the body. Since they were under orders not to interfere under any circumstances (as they had been when the Troll assassin had tried to kill Brown), they had done nothing but continue to record. Later at 0006, they thought they heard the door open, but couldn't be sure. No sound had come from the bugged room since that time.

Inspector Bpmn got to Brown's apartment by 0101 and (some 56 minutes late) discovered that the Earthman was missing. More alerts.

By 0200 computors checking taxi runs began spewing forth patterns of possible traffic. By this time Inspector Bpmn had 400 men on the case. An hour later, 650. When Bpmn got his first solid clue at 0572, more than a thousand members of Grendid's secret service and police were directly searching for Bill Brown.

Ironically, it was Jmlp, who was not part of this vast army, who came up with the clue. Since it was the tan-skinned attorney's tort that triggered the trouble, he had been investigating A99-6592VLR's history on Grendid. The name of Tkkd came up in his investigations (as did three others who also disappeared after knowing her). Jmlp dis-covered that Tkkd's name had never made the missing persons list. He placed it there with a top-speed personal callback priority, and was awakened at 0542 with word that Tkkd had rented a helicopter during the "ail-off' hours of the night.

Jay mused about the development and wondered if the helicopter could have been used simply to spirit Brown out of the city. Surely there were less obvious ways. "In dealing with a spy, the simplest answer should almost always be discarded." He remembered that from his counter-espionage training. All right, then she must be keeping him in the city. "The second most obvious answer is seldom correct." She needs the helicopter for something else.

Then what will she do? Or am I right in absolving Brown from guilt? They could be in it together. Probably she talked him into the escape—that's what 1 was going to do. Probably used the same cover 1 had planned. After all, she was a member of the Equal Opportunity for Earth Association.

Back to the problem. What could she—or they—want with a slow-flying machine?

Under the camouflaged helicopter, A99-6592VLR pointed down the hill to a concrete ribbon of one-lane highway that stretched out of sight both to the right and left. "The King is your enemy, Bill. He is planning to kill you. Not only that, the King is behind the Council's refusal to admit Earth into the Galactic Empire. Grendid bullies some of the other, weaker planets into voting with him—Zee-9-Oh, Troll, Verios, E-X-gan and some of the non-human planets, too. He's the man who's trying to destroy your planet. With him gone things would get better. You must kill him."

"How?"

"With this blaster. Keep under cover and work your way down there. In about half an hour a plane will fly Over the road. Two minutes later a car will drive by with the King's double. Don't fire at the first car. A few minutes after that the King's car will come along. Destroy it, then run out on the road. I'll fly out and pick you up. Do you understand?"

"Yes, Gr."

"I'll put the blaster over here. Now then, after you wake up you do all this when I say the word 'King.' The first thing you will want to do when I awaken you is make love." I'm not going to let this opportunity go by even if he will be doing it under orders and even though he wont die until quite a bit later. "Do you understand?"

Brown mumbled that he did.

"Good. When I reach ten you will be fully awake, released and rested." She counted and Brown seemed greatly refreshed when she reached the final number.

The Earthman stared at the spy from Zee-9-Oh and grinned laciviously. "You're a pretty girl, Gr. Since one or both of us may get killed trying to kill the King, I think…"* By this time he had reached her. She was trembling strangely as he took her in his arms and kissed her hard. "I want you, Gr."

"I want you, too."

'I'll get the air mattress from the 'copter. Meanwhile, get that damn torso band off, Gr; I don't see how Grendid's birthrate is so high with clothes like those." He took two steps away toward the aircraft, turned and saw her struggling out of the elasticized garment.

The first thing the bare-breasted Zee-9-0h spy saw as the band slipped off her head was the blaster in Brown's hand.

"All right, plump one, put your clothes back on. We're canceling the whole piece of business." He clapped his hands as well as he could with the blaster pointed at the woman's face. "I never thought I'd ever tell a girl to get dressed. Get everything, Vic?" The last three words in English.

From a micro-speaker on his wrist-watch the answer came, "All on no-cut tape. This should be enough to set you free and maybe even pick up that important vote in the Council. Be extremely careful. She killed two men last night… with her bare hands. Now get her to fly you back to the Church, quickly."

Brown turned to the spy from Zee-9-Oh. "He said it's time to go home." He motioned to the helicopter. "Let's go."

She flung the torso band to the ground in disgust and moved toward the aircraft. "Obviously you weren't hypnotized. How did you find out the tape was rigged?"

He followed her very carefully. Together they removed the tree branches from the aircraft and then entered. She sat in the pilot's chair and Brown sat in the only other seat, beside her. While all this was going on, Brown listened to Vic fill him in on the big city-wide search for the girl. "Somehow the press got onto it. I would have thought the government would have kept it under wraps. There's nothing on your disappearance, though."

A99-6592VLR turned on the turbines and dust spewed around the machine. When the fans reached full torque, she expertly lifted the craft into the air, tilted it to the left, starting back toward the city. Technically a helicopter, the ship looked more like a hover-craft. The rotors were enclosed but there was no provision for direct drive flight.

"Keep low, Gr, or whatever your name really is."

"You have all this on tape, so what's to keep me from flying this thing into the ground? I've lost and there's not much of a future for failures."

"You haven't given up. One of our great Earth philosophers said, 'No half-naked woman has ever given up.' Or, to use a real cliche, 'Where there's life, there's hope.' You won't crash this ship."

"I won't have to. Look behind us."

"No thanks, Gr. That's an old trick."

Letting go of the controls, the woman clapped her hands, "Of course it's an old trick. That's why I never would have thought of using it. Look through the mirror. There are three of them."

Brown saw two in a quick glance. Ugly sleek-nosed jets with at least ten times the speed of the 'copter. Closing in on the slower aircraft, the lead ship sent a beam of energy rattling through the air in front of the helicopter.

"What now, brave leader?" asked the woman.

"I was hoping you'd think of something." A moment later he yelled, "Hit the communicator! I mean turn it on." Idioms are bad, bad, bad, Brown. "Now put this on auto and look like an embrrrassed school kid." He put the gun down out of sight and spoke loudly, "Hey, what's going on? Who's trying—get something on, Bb—who's trying to blow us up? We were just having a little fun. Bb, I said get something on. What'll they think?"

"You blasted fool," she answered, "you threw it out the window. Playful Plgg."

The jets streaked around again, but didn't fire this time.

"We'll be in town soon, Plgg," she complained, "then what'll I do?"

"You in those military planes, why don't you answer? I'm on the local air-wave band. You must hear me!" To her. "I'll get you some clothes just as soon as we land. If these over-anxious people out there don't blow us up first."

They were over the beginnings of the monstrous city now as Gr had been expertly piloting the ship away from the King's Highway toward the center of the city, still some sixty or seventy miles away. Now it would be difficult for the planes to destroy the low-flying helicopter without risking the destruction of lives and property.

Suddenly, a loud ranting voice filled the ship's speakers. "You fools. Those are the spies. Kill them!"

"His voice sound familiar? That's your old friend, Jmlp."

"Jay?"

"I didn't think you knew about him."

Another voice, obviously from one of their pursuing jets, "They didn't look like assassins. They were making love

"Shut up, you fool. Get them to land or shoot them down."

Brown had the comnet book out and punched a new number into the circuit: the television station. "This is Bill Brown and I've just discovered a plot to kill the King of Grendid. I think some of the people in on the assassination plot are trying to shoot me down. Get camera planes in the air immediately."

"Jam that transmission," Jay was shouting. "Hello, Jay," Brown said, smiling into the set's camera. "Say, I certainly do want to thank you…"

"Hang on!" the helicopter seemed to stop in mid-air as a beam of destruction crashed ahead of them.

"… for helping me at the spaceport. Wow, that must have killed half a dozen kids and set that school on fire." Brown was lying, but he knew the pilots knew that the press would be monitoring their actions and a mistake would be expensive.

"She flies pretty well for a spy, Jay. Listen, old friend, and I think I did detect some real friendship in your talks with me (even if you were buttering me up for the kill), I've vindicated your friendship. This woman tried to get me to kill the King."

"Hello, Bill," Jay sounded friendly. When the face appeared the eyes seemed sincere.

"Call off your planes if you want to talk to me. I've got factual evidence, including a no-cut tape of the whole thing. You can get confirmation by calling the television station at the Galactic Church. Meanwhile, call off the planes."

"Bill, you force her to land the 'copter and we'll talk about it. I can't guarantee to get you back in sanctuary now that you've left it but…"

"You don't love your King?" When did you stop heating your wife, you bastard? Brown milked, the pause for each micro-second it would yield, then, "If you shoot me down, you'll destroy your chance of knowing and perhaps proving the truth. You'll expose your King to another attempt, then another. You owe it to the King's safety to get this evidence."

Wanning to his subject (of keeping Brown alive), "Peo-pie of Grendid, when I arrived here I received hundreds of letters." True. "And in those letters people told me they were sure I couldn't be the villain certain unfriendly alien powers have tried to make you believe I am."

There's some truth there, Brown thought, even if most of the letter-writers thought 1 should be burned alive. But the alien-menace thing is good. Keep milking it. It's what makes the anti-Earth bit go down easily. Grendid suffers more from hatred than Earth. That's the reason they dye their skin… their race riots made ours look like picnics with bacha games. (This was why the Grendidians dyed their skin—to destroy any chance of racial identification through skin color.) Still they have to hate someone, if not themselves. And if not Earth, then some other aliens.

Suddenly the screen blurred and refocused again on the Royal Ring. Pull back to reveal the King. Voice over: "Ladies and Gentlemen, His Royal Majesty, King Zz of Grendid."

"How much longer?" Brown asked. "The bubble's going to break."

"Maybe ten minutes. The planes keep making passes. I doubt if I can dodge many of them if they start to open up/'

"My subjects," said the King, "as you can see I am very much alive. There was an attempt on my life this morning but I have escaped. The two people—both aliens, by the way—that you saw on your screen a moment ago, are the perpetrators of the plot. Fortunately, Jmlp of our counterespionage department correctly foresaw their action and warned me in time."

The King paused with a sense of drama Brown had to admire. "We do not know whether the Earthman or the woman from Zee-9-Oh is responsible for the attempt on my life. Perhaps they are both responsible. We must know. As of this moment, I am placing this planet and all our ten colonies on a state of wartime alert until the facts are known. My first command is to my brave flyers: follow the aliens but do not attempt to shoot them down. I want no unnecessary loss of Grendidian life. My second command is to the aliens: you must land soon, but know this. If one of you is innocent, you will not find the justice of this planet lacking. If your innocence can be proven, you shall not be harmed • . .

The King continued to talk, first addressing his active military units and then his citizenry. But Brown was not listening closely.

We've won, he thought. The tape is proof of my innocence. All we do is return to the Church and we've got it made. He reached down to pick up his blaster. It wasn't there. Did she see me reach for it?

"Gr, you won the aerial battle. With a rented, unarmed helicopter you held off three military jets that probably have enough fire power between them to wipe out a quarter of this city."

She didn't answer.

"There's the Church, Gr. Sanctuary there isn't too bad. Food's plain but there's a lot of it; there's plenty of room for wandering around; the people there are inclined to 'live and let live'—that's an Earth expression."

"You double-damned fool. How could you be so stupid most of the time and still figure out the tape?"

"I suspected you when you started to make a play for me." Lie. I would have bought it if it hadn't been for my puritan belief that one girl at a time is enough. Kk and John Calvin saved me. "Since the teaching machine has no fast forward, I took the tape up to the TV studio and ran out some of it."

The helicopter started its run onto the roof landing strip. She turned to glance at the Earthman as she skillfully approached the 125-story building. "Do you honestly believe that Grendid would let us have sanctuary?"

"They gave it to me."

"You were an annoyance. I am a threat. When the King declared that wartime alert I knew our sanctuary was ended. And so I do what I must…"

The aircraft had been descending rapidly as she spoke, and now the spy from Zee-9-Oh dropped the 'copter on the edge of the roof. It teetered there for a moment, then dropped to the street below.

On Earth a non-aerodynamic object falls 1000 feet in slightly less than eight seconds. On Grendid it requires slightly more.

0"-l": Fool! Of course she'd be willing to die, Brown thought as he was thrown against his seat straps. Vic must have been right. She must be a spy for Zee-9- Oh. Now what, clever man? WJiat clever gibes will you utter as you die? He yelled into his tiny wrist communicator his fellow Earth-man had given him, "Vic, we're falling!" l'z.2": j'mgOing f0 dfe^ Next to his fear of being crushed by Earth's rampant population explosion, death was Brown's most paralyzing fear. Oh God, no.

That's cheating, Brown. Since you don't believe in a personal God watching over you, caring if you live or die, preparing some exquisite reward for your many sins and occasional virtues—how can you pray for help now? Hypocrisy, worst of crimes. Die like a man, true to your belief. If there is a personal God, He could feel only disgust at an eleventh hour of conversion.

What are you thinking about, Gr? Glory? Satisfaction? Or does fear clog your nostrils, still your heart, dry your throat?

I can't even hate you. Damn you, why can't 1 hate you?

2"-3": / think I know. You're dying for what you believe. Killer, cold-blooded executioner, sexually aberrated monster, you're making your life stand for something by dying.

I'm not.

If I'd been probed on Troll and my head had mushroomed into splinters of bone and puree of brain, then I would have died for something. Not now, because I've won. It's melodrama! Anouilh was right in Antigone" when he talked about death in tragedy and melodrama. Brown had played the Chorus in that play and although he couldn't remember the lines, the thoughts were clear as they raced inside his mind.

3"-4": Death in a tragedy is clean because it's inevitable and it stands for something—Gr's death, protecting her planet, saving face through the highest sacrifice a person can make.

But my death is melodrama because I no longer stand for anything. Vic has the evidence. In certain respects, I saved the King's life and now I die as a mere adjunct to her tragic death.

But maybe …

4"-5": He reached out to the control panel (now above him) and jabbed at the clutch, twisting the turbine motor switch to re-start.

I'll be damned.

It started!

5"-6": A sharp pain in Brown's left arm reminded the Earthman he was not alone in the falling machine. Switching hands on the clutch control he aimed a blow in her general direction. How much longer can I wait before I try the rotors? He heard Gr's seat buckle snap as the helicopter continued its slow, languorous flip. It was almost upright…

6"-7": She landed on Brown, out of balance, her fingernails missing his eyes by a good two inches. Involuntarily, as his cheeks and mouth were torn, he released his hand from the clutch.

Bent and twisted in the impact six seconds ago, the rotor blades protested loudly as the turbine power was suddenly thrust upon their driveshaft. The badly-wedged blades snapped and metal hit metal and metal ground metal and metal melted, warped and howled. Blade after blade bent or broke as the rotors tried to clear a path…

And did.

7"-8": Off center, almost half her blades missing, the helicopter restored a form of gravity to the pair of spies. She was sitting in his lap and suddenly she kissed him. Sensually. Passionately. Brown shoved her away, grabbed at the slide controls and applied full power for level flight. The increase in gravity and change in flight attitude hurled

A99-6592VLR to the floor of the craft. '"Yes," she said. "Yes. Yes. Yes."

8"-Impact: Brown's mind was spinning. He remembered his childhood, how he hated going to school on the fourth shift, the warmth of his parents, how his mother would correct his grammar insistently until his command of language was deep and sound, how his father taught him that curiosity is what makes life worthwhile, and how to "structure" his thinking. He remembered, at the age of 14, seeing his parents twisted in the grotesque shapes of violent death after a drunk crashed into their car one night.

Brown remembered the girls he had loved (or more correctly, had made love to—there had been but one he might have loved) and the parts he had played—Duke Mantee, Doll Life, Cyrano, Lear's Fool, Willy Loman, the Rag Picker, Chester King, the Prince of Knaves, the Gentleman Caller and scores and scores of lesser roles. Now he'd never get to do the part he wanted most to play—Macbeth. "Tomorrow and tomorrow and tomorrow"—hah!

He remembered the first time he met Vic and the same urgings of purpose jetted through his mind a second time. He remembered Harry Gordon with mixed disgust and pity. And Lise. Lise. Lise.

And Kk and His Eminence and Jay and the Troll Assassin and Gr.

It's not slowing enough!

Incongruously, as the first shock and sound of the impact reached his ears, he heard Vic Hermitage shout from the communicator, "What's happening, Bill?"

Obviously there was no answer.

 

X

The King was swimming when Jmlp arrived at the palace. "Join me?" he yelled as his new chief advisor arrived.

Jmlp nodded and stepped out of his clothes. A minute later, with a sloppy dive, he was swimming in the huge circular pool with his Majesty.

King Zz, an excellent swimmer, knifed through the water to the tan-skinned attorney. "Perhaps I don't wish to hear your news."

"Then I won't tell you," said Jmlp and dove to the bottom of the pool.

As he surfaced, the King was waiting and shoved him under. "Then I'll have to drown you."

The two men swam to a gaudy blue and yellow float in the center of the pool and pulled themselves out of the scented water.

"Being a King has some advantages. However, I've often wondered if a King should live better than his subjects. Perhaps there is a tragic flaw that allows those who govern to be set apart so from the governed." He sighed and turned over on his stomach. "It doesn't matter. Not today anyway. What have you learned?"

"I have the results of a poll; that doesn't mean I have 'learned' a thing."

"That is one of the disadvantages of being a King: I must learn something from it. How many approved the martial law?"

"Almost everyone. A little better than 96 percent."

"Good. Higher than I thought. My guess on how many approved violation of Church sanctuary is much lower. Half?"

"Almost 59 percent. Probably because it was only the Galactic Church you invaded; it's not the same as violating a church indigenous to Grendid; our people still fear the Galaxy and since His Eminence is the only Grendidian to have visited the Galactic supermen, they fear him, too."

"Hardly an overwhelming vote of confidence."

"The other figures are more frightening. Before that incredible mixture of Earth innocence, bravery, stupidity and intellect arrived, 32 percent of the population were opposed to Earth's entry into the Council of 16. Almost 60 percent didn't care one way or the other, of course. Now only 43 percent don't care and only 29 percent want Earth kept out."

"Which leaves," the King sighed, "almost as many people in favor of entry as opposed."

"Statistically, one could flip a sea shell."

"Bad, bad, bad." He flopped over on his stomach and propped his head in his hands. "Zee-9-Oh?"

"The tape shook a lot of people. Before that attempt on your life two weeks ago, almost everyone who ever thought about it was for our matriarchal friends. Now you could probably get support for any counter-action short of war. Most would favor breaking relations with the planet and trying to oust them from the Council."

"In short," said the tall, thin monarch, "because I had you save the Earthman from extradition, the entire course of history has been changed. Amazing how one amateur spy and one posterity-obsessed king could make such an incredible mess. I may have lost the game, Jmlp."

"There's an Earth expression that goes something like, 'Oh, what a tangled insect-trap we provide, when first we practice to scheme and hide'."

The King clapped his hands slowly three times and rolled off the float into the water. He swam around to face his advisor. "I notice you are leaving the worst until last."

"My Leige…"

"Go on. Tell me."

"More than 81 percent of the entire population feel it would be a mistake to probe Brown."

The King put his arms above his head and sank slowly beneath the surface. He stayed under so long Jmlp got to his knees, ready to dive after him.

"Don't be a fool, Jmlp (although I find your concern for my health the only consoling thing you have brought with you today). Men cannot drown themselves." The King treaded water and stared at his companion. "At least I can't. What do you advise, advisor?" The red-skinned Monarch grabbed the edge of the float and clapped his hands. "Did you know, I think this is the first time I have asked for advice in my adult life."

"I am honored," Jmlp said seriously.

"I am scared."

"I think you must probe him. He will be ready for a light probe late today."

"Is he conscious?"

"No," answered Jmlp, "but he could be. In fact, he could have been awakened safely yesterday. The doctors have kept him asleep for faster healing, also because I told them to do so; it kept the other Earth spy from talking to him."

"Any chance he will die under the probe? That would be the end of everything."

"I don't think so. I saw that helicopter after the crash; I'd be surprised if anything could kill him. Twenty-four bones were broken; he lost at least half of his body fluids —if that other Earthman had not been the same fluid type, Brown would have died 20 minutes after they got him into the Church hospital; some of his intestines were external organs; part of his…"

"Enough."

"I'm sorry, your Majesty.'*

"Jmlp, you said you believed his story before. Do you doubt it now?"

There was a long pause. "I'm not sure," the tan-skinned man said finally. "I am reasonably sure he had no instructions concerning Grendid."

"Then why do you say you would go through with the probe?"

"Maybe it will turn up some evidence of an Earth conspiracy. That is all you could hope to find."

"A poor risk."

"So is going back on the Royal Word. You promised a probe if he lived."

"The sins of my youth… that was two weeks ago."

"If he were telling me the truth before the probe con-firms it, you would be forced to promise to do everything you could to gain Earth's admission to the Council."

"And I'm almost forced to do that now, without a probe—is that what you're saying?" Jmlp didn't answer. "I suppose you're right. We'd have to vote for Earth's admission in the Council meeting, of course; someone would be sure to tell Earth if we violated our word, but perhaps…"

Jmlp stood up on the float. "In short, you're in a lot of hazy trouble if you don't, and in clear trouble if you do. And, of course, there is a chance." He dove in, hitting flat on the water with a resounding smack.

The King followed him across the pool to the edge. Jmlp scrambled out of the water as the King approached. "I suppose you're right. At least I hope so; yours is the decision I'd come to on my own. Will you write me a gracious concession speech calculated to win back support of 81 percent of my people?"

Jmlp helped the King out of the pool. "I already have, your Majesty."

Circus.

That's what Vic Hermitage thought of the whole thing as he watched the cameras pan past the probe equipment to the terror-stricken Bill Brown on the hospital cart.

The announcer was interviewing the government's medical expert, "He can be given a mild probe, then, with no danger?"

"Any probe is dangerous," the doctor managed haughtiness in spite of a poor command of Intergalaca. "He should be able to endure it, however. I have examined the list of questions and it is my medical opinion that the probe will not harm him or hinder his recovery." His set speech over, the doctor walked away.

Vic's door-com sounded. Annoyed, he crossed to the door and made the viewplate transparent. A neophyte of the Galactic Church stood outside. Vic recognized him and opened the door.

"I have a small gift from His Eminence to you," said the young man, handing Vic a box about two-inches square. "I believe it is a ring bearing the Galactic seal. If the King lifts the martial law, it will give you safe conduct back to your planet."

"Thank you, muttered Vic, glancing back at the set.

"Have they probed him yet?"

Did you hear an explosion? Vic thought. After all that poor SOB's been through, they're going to scramble his brains by simply turning on a machine. "No. Soon, though."

"Er, could I watch?"

Ghouls! "No. Get out of here before I…"

Terrified at the Earthman's violent reaction to what the neophyte assumed was a reasonably harmless^ question, he fled, leaving Vic Hermitage both angry and ashamed.

"Ladies and Gentlemen, they are beginning the probe."

A close-up showed the hand on the switch.

Boom, thought Vic. I killed you after all.

Vic remembered his confrontation with Bill two Grendi-dian weeks ago. VIC: I came here to kill you but I find I can't do it. BROWN: Good, then I won't have to use this energy pencil on you. I want you to hear a tape, Vic. I think we may come out of this smelling like roses.

And you almost pulled it off, Bill. We'll name our first planet after you, 1 swear it!

The hand on the dial turned.

Without thinking, Vic winced. He too, was wired with a probe-activated bomb. Partly with blind animal fear of the bomb in his own head and partly with guilty concern for the man he had involved, Vic grabbed his head in his hands.

"Brown, what were your orders concerning Grendid?"

Nothing happened.

Nothing!

Vic looked at the screen and saw Brown's face. Bill was radiant in spite of his injuries and the many wires attached to his skull. He's realized the bomb failed! But how?

"Were you involved in an assassination plot on the life of King Zz of Grendid?"

Maybe the fall damaged the mechanism. But Brown's head was the only part of his body not badly damaged.

"Why did you become a spy of Earth?"

Wait a minute. The package from the Church.

He tore it open. There it was—the tiny, miniaturized plastic-coated bomb. There was a note enclosed.

"What are your feelings concerning the planet Grendid?"

The announcer said, sotto voce, "That is the final question. The Earthman will be de-wired and returned to his hospital room in the Galactic Church."

Vic read the note and then re-read it. All it said was: "Thought you might like to give this to Brown as a souvenir." There was also the seal of His Eminence, himself.

The announcer was shouting, "Full results will not be determined for ten hours at least, but the head probe analyst states that Brown was not spying here on Grendid, nor was he involved in a plot to kill the King!"

Vic rose, walked to his closet and removed his suitcase. From the case he removed a bottle of bourbon. Pro-rating its share of Vic's travel costs, it now was worth about 500 ECMC's. He walked to the communicator and dialed the Galactic Church of the Self. A minute later Kk's face filled the screen.

"Kk, tell that evil Earthman I'm coming over with a bottle of bourbon. Tell him we're going to celebrate a successful brain surgery]"



PART THREE

COUNCIL OF 16

 

XI

Bbown had to admit it was an impressive arrangement. As the tender bearing King Zz of Grendid and himself approached the small spherical spaceship, he could feel his heart pounding and his throat was tense with excitement.

"It is exciting, isn't it?" asked the King.

Brown managed a choked "Yes."

"Our Council of 16 meetings must be highly secret, you understand. Heads of State and all that. By the way, you are the first outsider ever admitted to one of these affairs. We're not even allowed servants."

"I know." The spaceship was nearer now, its bulk blanking the stars.

"We usually finish our business in a single Grendidian day or two. This meeting may take longer. We have never disciplined a member of the Council before."

"Will the 'Mother' of Zee-9-Oh be here?"

"I hope so," the King said. "It wouldn't be half so much fun if I couldn't see that hag punished for meddling. It's a serious offense."

"I know," Brown replied softly. Your trying to kill me was just a lark. "The girls seem intent on having us destroy each other."

" 'The girls'," King Zz laughed; "you haven't seen 'Mother'. She's 84 of their years, about 158 of mine. But you're right about their intentions. Both your planet and mine must be very careful never to let that happen. Ah, here we are." The tender had twisted slightly as the Spec Magfield of the larger ship caught their smaller one and pulled it forward. The cushioners caught first and reduced their speed. The magnets lined up the tender, the air-lock seal was made, and a yellow light flashed on inside the cabin, indicating the connection was safe. A moment later the two men were aboard.

"Nothing to do now but wait until the others hook on. Drink?"

"Thank you, your Majesty." Brown examined the' compartment. Perhaps compartment was not the right word. It was at least sixty-feet deep by twenty wide. A bedroom, bath and a galley were beyond. Brown understood they would cook their own meals.

"We conduct our business from right here in our compartments. Somewhat silly, actually—most of the humans and some of the others would be comfortable in one common place—but we do have a methane breather, a chlorine breather, an undersea type and a rather ugly eight-legged thing among us, so…" the King handed Brown a drink before finishing his sentence "… so we minimize our differences by maximizing them." The King of Gren-did stopped and sipped his drink. "You are not the most talkative of creatures, Mr. Brown."

"I'm sorry."

"Is it because I tried to keep your planet out of the Council?"

Brown looked at the King and replied very evenly, "Billions of my people's lives depend on Earth's being able to emigrate. You can't very well expect me to cheer your past behavior."

"I'm going to vote *yes' this time."

"You suddenly care about us?"

"Of course not. I wouldn't want to see you die (since I know you at least superficially), but the loss of ten or twelve billion or however many Earthmen means little to me. I have 20 billion of my own to worry about. They're counting on me." The King paused for another sip of his drink. "I have two questions to ask you: did you save my life?"

"Not intentionally."

"But you did save it."

"I was busy saving my own.**

"Exactly. Now I'm going to save my political life by returning the favor. We both engage in noble purposes for the wrong reasons."

Brown clapped his hands together. "What's your next question?"

"If you were me, would you want to compete with Earth?"

"No."

"Exactly."

"But from what I've read of your history, you're as big a bunch of cutthroats as we are."

Oddly enough, from then on the two got along well.

Brown was fascinated by the procedure.

As the last of the 16 tenders was magnetically linked to the Council ship, a circuit was completed and the random punch card directed the ship on its course. After a short time, out of detection range of the 16 ships which brought the leaders to the assembly point, the course was changed abrubtly and the ship accelerated to the required speed. There was that soft, unnerving sensation as the ship jumped. Less than an Earth hour later, they emerged from hyper-space and the ion drive began the deceleration as the meet-ting got under way.

In deference to the rest of the Council, Brown sat to the right of King Zz as the meeting proceeded. Out of sight, out of mind.

A ritual opening, including tape of Galaxy Citizen De-tobion, charged the Council to fair play and honest administration of this sector. Brown found it impressive but wryly realized that the Council honored the Galaxy's admonition mainly by ignoring it.

A routine matter followed. The bird people of Moryllap-silgapth wanted a third planet for colonization and got it with a ten to six majority. Brown watched the voting procedure closely—as it came each planet's turn to vote, the television screen showed that planet's leader and carried a running total vote on a separate screen below. Grendid voted fourth on that issue and would vote third on the next ballot—the admission of Earth to the Council and the opening of two uninhabited planets for her emigration.

This is it, thought Brown. The King had told Brown the last vote had been eight against and eight for… Grendid's switch should make the difference. A tie vote couldn't carry, but a simple majority would. He watched the screen as the proposal appeared, listened to the simple words that meant life or death to his planet: "Resolved, that planet 6406.9843/2031.4843/8906.375, known as 'Earth', be admitted to membership in the Council of Galactic Trusteeship, increasing Council membership to 17; and that planets 6562.0781/2033.578/8910.0312 and 6492.4328/2003.-7656/9000.0056, both uninhabited by sentient life and unlikely to develop any such life form, be made available to the first-named planet as colonies, subject to the rules governing said colonies as previously established by the Council."

Sentient, thought Brown. Two years ago, he and a group of fellow actors had played a game of FRAB after rehearsal. A simple game—all it requires is a dictionary, a piece of paper and bluff. Someone chooses a number between one and five and another opens the dictionary at random, counts down that number in the first column and reads the word. The player who is "up" has to make a reasonable definition. Then the reader counts up the same number in the second column and so on with another page until each player defines ten words. Brown had been given "sentient" that night and missed it entirely. He thought it meant "thinking". Computers "think", Brown frowned, Brown "thinks". But a sentient being "feels", I wonder if a planet of Browns would qualify as sentient?

The planet of Henrod voted first. The old human figure on the screen looked to Brown like a Santa Claus and voted like him, too. Affirmative. The next voter was the cruel-looking human Prime Minister from Sorensy. He had huge, bulging multiple eyes (reportedly the only human race in the Galaxy with this lower-order type of eye). Brown shivered when he looked at the Prime Minister, but his vote was also affirmative. Quit judging books by covers, Brown told himself abruptly.

The King of Grendid voted next. In violation of the strict rules of procedure, Zz spoke, as he voted, "I hope this serves to make amends."

Grandstand play. But it's three to nothing for the good guys!

The string ended there. The new dictator of Troll, pledged to a harder line than his predecessor, voted against Earth. Ingrate. I made you what you are today. His stomach tightened when he realized that what he had just thought was literally true. William T. Brown, kingmaker. Or dicta-tormaker.

The spider thing from Y-2348 (the same race as the creature who had pulled Brown out of the Nolagan's swimming pool) voted in favor of Earth. Four to one, our side. The next vote was negative. An extremely handsome man, who reminded Brown of one of Earth's leading actors, voted the "no" for Verios. The next vote came from a huge rat representing Arnow. He wasted no time casting his vote against the proposal.

Arnow?

Grendid controlled Arnow's vote! Brown's stomach reacted to the acid his body involuntarily pumped there. The King looked sideways at the Earthman and Brown fought his body to maintain control. Why didn't Arnow follow Grendid*s lead?

Doublecross.

What if the King had lied when he said the former vote was eight to eight? What if Grendid had used its massive political and economic pressure to change another vote? A tie would still defeat the motion.

The next vote came from an ugly non-human chlorine breather from Geen-1-Clo. Affirmative.

The human planet of E-X-Gan voted no. At least he had the decency to look sorry when he pressed the button. Or does that expression indicate glee on E-X-Gan?

The fragile bird creature of Moryllapsilgapth fluttered a bit before casting its yes vote. Brown's hope rose as the tall, beautiful Queen Orrenda from the slowly dying planet of Lys made it seven to four in favor of Earth's admission to the Council. We only need two more votes!

Brown grabbed the voting list unceremoniously and studied the order. Zee-9-Oh was voting next to last. A sure no. And the last planet, Denograd, is definitely under Gren-dids control. Brown estimated that Earth's only assured vote from here on in would be from Wolen-2-Oh, a human planet whose close trading ties with Earth made them natural friends.

The Council's twelfth vote came from a methane breather from Jad-3-Me. A no. Why "no"? We can't even exist on each other's planets. What the hell can you have against us? The dominant race on Morralorga was rodent (as was Arnow, but these resembled beavers). Their leader also voted against Earth. It'll be a tie. We get the next vote and lose the next two—it'll be a tie.

Brown noticed that King Zz was tensing as the next figure flashed on the screen. Good old Watty Norgina of Walen-2-Oh. He's the only one on the Council I've ever seen before. Brown had performed for him when the President of Walen-2-Oh had paid a state visit to Earth. Norgina cast his vote, staring down at the floor.

"No."

"Bastard," said Brown. "You, not him," he informed the King. "What did you promise him?"

"You saw that I kept my word. I voted for you."

"I'll bet you'll be eating Etho for the rest of your life." Etho, a banana-type fruit, was Walen-2-Oh's principle export crop.

The vote stood at seven-seven as the incredibly old and equally ugly hag, known as the "Mother" of her planet, filled the screen.

"Zee-9-Oh abstains," she said in her croaking voice.

King Zz clapped his hands twice.

The screen picked up a huge yellow and orange striped fish swimming in a murky green fluid. The ruler of Derognad moved into the center of the picture and stared out at the waiting Council members. The fingered flippers shot out at the control switches and the electronic screen below changed: "In favor: 8; Opposed: 7; Abstentions: 1. The motion is passed."

The King stood up, the muscles in his thin face taut. He seemed to grow redder than his already brilliantly-eyed red skin. Abruptly he slumped back in his chair as the oily-skinned man from Sorensy, chairman for this Council meeting, asked that the vote for Earth's admission be made unanimous. There were no nays.

The king of 20 billion people turned to Brown and said, "111 bet you'll be supplying Derognad with plankton for as long as you live." Then he started to laugh, clapping his hands together furiously, building rhythms upon rhythms, faster and faster. "You must forgive me, Bill. As a monarch, one gets a good deal of practice winning. Therefore, I am a very good winner. We monarchs don't lose very often…"

Brown smiled and started to laugh himself. Then he clapped his hands softly—one, two, three—and said, "I'll get you a drink."

As the moderator opened up the privileged discussion on the 942 routine matters to be decided that year, the King returned to the bar with Brown. "The computor vote simplifies all of this dull stuff. Every question or motion is presented at least 100 Galactic days before the meeting." King Zz seemed to want to talk. "We're proposing almost a hundred of the little monsters this year. Each planet turns its staff on the questions and we arrive at our vote and punch it on a card. Generally, if it doesn't hurt us or one of our friends, we vote for it. About four out of five pass; there's something for everybody."

^How many are you voting against this year?"

"I think it's 52. Unless, of course, some speech sways me at the last minute. I can change my card vote if I wish. I expect 82 of our 97 proposals to pass and I will make an impassioned plea for one other—the right to increase our flight schedule to E-X-Gan by 25 percent. Then, after all these mercifully short speeches are over, we will put our cards in the machine, and, in a fraction of any time unit you wish to name, 942 planet-shaking problems are solved and printed out." The King paused before taking a sip of his light-green drink. "You don't seem to be angry with me. Why?"

"We won. Is this question of Zee-9-Oh one of the 942?"

"No. That comes later. I lost my fight with you, my friend, but I'll win that one."

A light flashed, warning King Zz that he would be speaking in a few moments so Brown took his drink and moved out of camera range.

A few hours and three drinks later, Brown watched the King place his small plastic file card in a slot. After a short delay while all the other planetary rulers placed their cards in the proper place there was a brief whirring sound and King Zz pulled the card out again.

"This star-shaped mark means the proposal passed. We got…" there was a long pause "… 83. Very good, and we lost…" another long pause… "only 32 of the other Council proposals we wanted defeated. Except for you, Earthman, Grendid has done very well this meeting. The big one comes up now."

The moderator turned the floor over to the King of Grendid and Brown watched in awe as King Zz presented his impressive display of evidence against Zee-9-Oh. Next to treachery against the Galactic Empire (so far away, so loosely organized, and with so few personal contacts as to be almost impossible as well as inconceivable), interference in another's affairs was the most serious of interplanetary crimes.

The tape Vic Hermitage had made of Brown's adventures that horrible night was the most damning. Hermitage must be one happy man right now, Brown thought, and then realized, nobody knows we won. He sighed. I keep forgetting that "no messages can leave the Council meeting because it would give away the ship's position" Who said that? The big red king? No. It was one of the technicians… the guy who searched my bag. But then, he wasn't so smart, was he?

"I demand that Zee-9-Oh receive the stiffest penalty of this Council. For her deliberate and unprecedented attempt to assassinate me, obviously planned at the highest level, Zee-9-Oh should be denied membership of this Council for the maximum time prescribed in our charter. All privileges and rights, including that of interstellar nights (excepting those to her own colonies) should also be revoked for ten Galactic years." The King finished his case and relinquished the floor.

As the matriarchal head of Zee-9-Oh began to defend her planet, Brown wondered what the penalties would do to Zee-9-Oh. To be cut off from the mainstream of Galactic thinking for almost 19 Earth years would be destructive. Earth had received many of the benefits of Galactic scientific advances, even while not a member of the Council. With total knowledge doubling every five years or so, this Coventry imposed on Zee-9-Oh would be far worse.

Brown's forehead wrinkled; something troubled him. He walked to the King, who was listening carefully to Zee-9-Oh's rebuttal.

"How sure are you this ship can't be found?"

Annoyed at the interruption, "I told you about the random jump tapes… we could be at any one of 128 locations and everyone aboard was as thoroughly searched for screamers as we were. I'm very busy, Brown." He scribbled another note to prove his point.

"Just one more question, your Majesty. Who built this craft?"

"Each planet builds its own section. Zee-9-Oh did the common fabrication." The King spun angrily on Brown. "Don't make a fool of yourself; it was inspected down to the smallest bolt. Now leave me alone."

The King was to apologize for his outburst in less than six Galactic centi-minutes.

One sign of intelligence is to scoff at the idea that anything is impossible. When Zee-9-Oh received the contract to build the basic spaceship for the Council meetings, there were many impossibilities involved. How, for example, could you provide safety in case of an emergency? The atmospheric experts of Zee-9-Oh discovered that of the original ten Council members, plus the eight most logical new members, 15 of the group could exist in the same atmosphere for at least a short period of time. The built a compartmentalized common area with this atmosphere. For the methane and chlorine breathers, they built a separate, armored escape tank next to their regular pie-shaped compartments. They did the same thing for the fish ruler of Derognad. The solution for the exceptions was simply common sense; the solution for the majority was good, old-fashioned sweaty genius as anyone who had breathed the atmospheres of the 15 varied planets would testify.

When Zee-9-Oh was told that the ship must be impossible to trace in space, the same genius was applied to achieving impossibility—except as far as Zee-9-Oh was concerned. Now, the "Mother" of Zee-9-Oh had a hairpin (who would deny an old woman a hairpin?). Placed at exactly the right spot in the meteor detection system, it shunted about six times the normal electrical energy into a portion of the circuit, setting up a high frequency oscillation. A few of the micro-switches would fuse, of course, but that served to convert certain detection wafers into power devices. Result? A screamer—a detection device good for approximately 100,000,000 Earth miles.

Fourteen Galactic time units after Zee-9-Oh was condemned for meddling in the affairs of Grendid, the aged "Mother" of her planet placed the hairpin in the circuit and tottered back to her compartment.

Now 100,000,000 miles is nothing as far as space is concerned, and since the Council ship could have been at any one of 128 basic locations, all this represents so far is the breaking of a rule for its own sake. Zee-9-Oh certainly didn't have 128 ships of the line to send after every location. So she didn't.

Zee-9-Oh did have 32 ships of creditable fighting strength, so she stationed them at every four points of the 128 point Galactic compass at fixed positions. Then she sent out 91 freighters and five pleasure craft to all of the other points.

Obviously this would work only on a two-dimensional surface, so each of the 128 ships made jumps, dropping off a "homer" at each of the five degrees above and below the ecliptic (traditionally there had never been a jump beyond that five degree variation). Zee-9-Oh had one further advantage. For safety, the zero momentum point of the Council ship's path was marked in the standard 12-digit code and 12 planets received one number apiece. If the Council ship failed to return, the numbers could be collected and rescue ships sent. Zee-9-Oh had the tenth number, which told them at what tenth of a degree above or below the ecliptic the ship would be at zero momentum (relative to their starting point, before returning to almost tüe speed of light and the reverse jump home).

Luck helped, too.

The homer bolted out of overdrive and almost hit the freighter Purity, commanded by A75-5446BER. Her navigator punched a card into another homer and sent it skittering off into overdrive toward the nearest military ship. But A75-5446BER couldn't wait for the larger, more heavily-armed ship. The Purity would make the attack.

The Council ship had reached zero momentum and was slowly gaining speed for the return trip when the Purity located it. Since the meteor detection system had been des-troyed when "Mother" had converted the mechanism, there was no warning until the actual physical bump of contact.

T46-6277AMO was a member of the four woman-boarding party. She had served as a member of the palace guard before her swift assignment to the freighter some ten Galactic days ago. Until a few centi-minutes ago, she had no idea why she and her three other companions had been sent aboard the ship. In spite of this brief understanding, she knew she would do her job well, in spite of its frightening, overwhelming nature. It was simply a matter of "Mother of us all, your daughter will obey."

The space-suited team left the freighter, entered through the Zee-9-Oh tender air lock, and were soon standing in the presence of their leader. They opened their helmets and bowed.

"Mother of us all…" they began the ritual as one.

"Enough, daughters," snapped the old woman, "my womb swells with pride at what you have already accomplished, but there is much to be done. Have you your orders?"

"Yes, Mother," came the chorus.

"You must leave no clues, daughters. When the fighting ship arrives it will contain the weapons of Earth. Those will be used to destroy this place. Bring the oxygen breathers to the control room; you know what to do with the others. Hurry, I will meet you there. I will make an announcement to the others now, daughters. Pay no attention to what I say: you have your orders."

T46-6277AMO stepped out into the central corridor as the ruler of Zee-9-Oh spoke to the other planetary rulers. AMO smiled as she heard her symbolic mother say she was kidnapping them all until they agreed to restore Zee-9-Oh's position in the Council. As long as they can hope for their lives, they wont try anything desperate, she reasoned.

The the pretty brunette turned off the oxygen supply to the tanks of the fish ruler of Derognad.

Her next assignment was to pick up the King of Grendid and the Earthman. She reached their entrance and tried the latch. They haven't obeyed Mother's command, she thought as she burned through the door with her energy gun.

Then she saw why. The Earthman was pummeling the Grendidian King. The Earthman stopped as she entered the room. She watched as he rose from his victim and stared at her in disbelief.

"I swore this was a Grendidian plot," the Earthman said.

"I told you…" whined the King, blood running down his face.

"Shut up." The words were Intergalaca but the force was idiom. "You deserved a beating anyway."

The girl was confused.

The King tried to stand and failed. "Would you hand me a tissue, please? The scented ones are antiseptic."

She looked down at the table to her right. Two piles of soft paper tissues were there.

"Please."

Mother said leave no clues.

"I am bleeding to death."

But I'm wearing gloves …

"Let him bleed," said the Earthman. "You can get as much ransom for a dead King as a live one."

Mother's story. Of course. It should look like a kidnapping, not murder. It wouldn't do to have the King die.

She reached down and picked up a tissue.

"The scented ones are antiseptic."

"Forget it," said the Earthman. "Let him bleed."

She put the tissue to her nose and breathed. As her gloved hands held the paper some of the 100,000 tiny capsules in each square inch were broken. Liquid was released. Combined with the oxygen in the air it formed a very fast-acting nerve gas. As AMO tried to control her numbing muscles in an unsuccessful attempt to shoot or scream, she heard the Earthman say: "Quit overacting and hand me your electric carving knife. I'm about to revive 'Charlie's Aunt'."

Since he spoke in Grendidian, T46-6277AMO never knew what was said as the floor came up to greet her.

The control room of the Council ship was already full as tht King of Grendid and his dark-haired guard arrived. The space-suited figure kept the stun gun pointed directly at the King's back. Since the room was crowded it was hard to see everything at once, so only the dark, oil-skinned ruler of Sorensy noticed the quick movement of the newcomer's gun at the same time as his guard slumped unconscious. The swarthy man caught the guard and held her up.

A moment or two later the same thing occurred to the young woman guarding the spider-thing from Y-2348, the blue-skinned dictator of Troll and the charming Queen of Lys. This time none of the captors thought fast enough. The remaining guard leaped forward, gun in hand to be met with a disintegrating beam in the face from the energy gun King Zz whipped from under his shirt. In his guard disguise, Brown stepped to the Zee-9-Oh ruler and took her gun without argument. Then he announced who he was.

Pandemonium.

"What do we do now?" was asked by half a dozen planetary leaders at once.

"Someone must be in charge," said the Prime Minister of Sorensy,

The tall red-skinned King of Grendid immediately motioned the group to silence. "This is so unprecedented I doubt if we would ever be able to select a leader. We are all Kings and Prime Ministers, Presidents and Dictators. I suggest we choose the only one of us who has no claim to command—the man who has given us at least a momentary taste of freedom." He pointed to Brown, who felt a bit ridiculous in his improvised wig and woman's uniform.

The murmur that filled the room smacked more of mutiny than assent.

"Wait," said the King, "the Earthman saw at once that this is no attempt at blackmail or ransom. We are not being kidnapped, but murdered!"

"How can you be sure?" asked Wally Norgina.

"Of course he is right," muttered the cruel-looking Prime Minister of Sorensy. "Any promise made under threat is invalid. She knows that. She meant to kill us all along." He paused, leering horribly at the Zee-9-Oh leader with his bulging multiple eyes, "Very well, I accept your Earth-man as temporary leader." He turned to Brown, "What are your orders?"

Good Lord, Brown, you're in command of th& highest* ranking army in history.

"We have to make our move at once," he said, cursing the stiffness of Intergalaca. "Forgive me, but I cannot follow protocol. You," he pointed to the bird creature from Moryllapsilgapth, "check on the non-oxygen breathers, please. If they are still alive, tell them what is happening and have them suit up if they can. You should get suited up, too. And you," he included the spider-thing from Y-2348. "President Norgina, there are still a few oxygen-breathers missing; I believe our guard was to pick them up."

As the old man waddled out of the room, Brown turned to the King of Grendid and the Prime Minister of Sorensy. "You two are the two physically strongest humans here. We can put on the Zee-9-Oh suits and try to surprise the others in their ship. Who should be our fourth?" Thank goodness the King's shot didn't destroy the other suit…

"I suggest the King of Arnow. He is not human, of course, but he is young and fast."

"Easily the best choice," agreed the oily man. "The suit will certainly fit."

Here comes the tough part. "Queen Orrenda, would you accompany us?"

The tall, fragile woman blushed. "You wish me to take her place?" She pointed to the Zee-9-Oh ruler.

"Yes. Your skill with languages is well-known." Largely because the King told me a few hours ago. "We may be able to make them think you are their 'Mother'. You could also translate for us; it may save us valuable time."

There was a moment's hesitation. "I am not strong; I could never kill another… but if you think I can be of service, I shall try."

Whew!

The spider thing re-entered the room in his space suit. Brown heard clicking sounds, then, in a horrible flat voice, the mechanical Intergalaca translation: "They have only a small freighter. I saw from my tender."

"What is the normal crew of a freighter?"

The group debated the point. Answers varied. By throwing out the top and bottom figure, they came up with a corporate guess of between six and sixteen.

A short time later Brown gave his final command to his full army of kings: "Everybody get suited up. Choose another leader. If we do not contact you personally in 15— no make that 20—time units, you…" You will what? No weapons. "… You can try to make a deal with them for her life." He pointed to the "Mother" of Zee-9-Oh. "I believe she planned to die with the rest of us, but the women aboard the freighter may not know that." A nasty look seemed to confirm Brown's theory. "Good luck." Then to his own attack group, he said, "Hurry."

The three men, one rodent and a woman edged out from the Zee-9-Oh tender. The bulk of the freighter scared the hell out of Brown. Must be forty times as big as the Council ship… this is a small freighter? They could have a full regiment aboard. He tried to swallow but couldn't. None of us know anything about a spaceship, let alone this particular craft.

"Fool's errand?"

They picked the right leader.

There was a rope line to an open lock on the freighter. As he left the artificial gravity field and stared at naked space, Brown fought down the idea that it would be very pleasant to spent the next few hours vomiting, and pulled himself across the narrow gap. Terga, the rodent King of Ar-now, helped the Queen of Lys across. Smorgla, the Prime Minister of Sorensy, and King Zz of Grendid brought up the rear.

The first part was incredibly easy. They found the airlock controls and cycled. Four women were waiting for them. As planned, Brown and Terga grabbed one of the women while Smorgla and Zz stunned the other three.

Brown threw back his helmet and said, "Quickly, or we kill your Queen Mother." King Zz made a menacing move toward the woman in the special spacesuit designed for the ruler of Zee-9-Oh. "How many more of you are there aboard."

"Mother—"

"Speak or she dies," Brown dug his fingers into the girl's shoulders, partly to keep her from seeing through the regal substitution.

"There are six others and they know…" The woman's head flashed up, indicating a television camera. Brown stunned the woman immediately.

"Bring the Mother of Them All along," Brown shouted. "If they open fire, they can kill her first."

Improvisation, Brown, was never your long suit, he told himself, annoyed that their secrecy had been lost so quickly. But the Mother bit might work—we fooled them with it once. I think. With his energy gun, Brown destroyed the camera, then patted Queen Orrenda's arm through her thick suit. "You're doing fine. I wish I had your courage." He meant it.

The quintet was speaking Grendidian now. All understood it and it was far less cumbersome than Intergalaca. "The control room must be near here."

"It's forward, where the…" Smorgla paused, stuck for the word. His arms described a dumbbell.

Terga was off at a trot and the others had to hurry to keep up with the rodent king. After leaving the small lock they found themselves on a narrow catwalk, forming one leg on an "X" across the center of the huge ship.

Freighters, unlike passenger ships and Council ships, could not afford the luxury of artificial gravity. Collapsed mass was simply far too expensive. So the bulk of this Zee-9-Oh freighter was a heated, pressurized shell, which meant it carried cargoes vulnerable to space. (Some ships were simply flying Erector sets which hooked the cargo to the framework.) For the crew there was a counterbalanced pinwheel in the bow which rotated, giving a form of gravity to the control room and sleeping quarters. The whole thing looked like a cigar with a propeller on the front.

In this ship the cargo was floated into position and then bound up in elasticized rope-nets. As Brown started out on the walkway he noticed that most of the nets below him (to the stern) were empty. He took two steps and was suddenly floating in the air.

Fool. You knew there wasn't any gravity!

Brown shouted for help as he grabbed for a support and forgot that gravity and momentum are independent phenomena. His arm was nearly torn out of its socket. He let go and careened against the railing on the other side. He began to drift upwards and panic overcame the Earthman momentarily. A hand caught his foot and pulled him down. It was Terga. The rodent seemed to move twice as fast as any of the others.

I'm glad we decided to bring you along, Brown thought as the feel of the railing restored his sanity.

An energy beam slashed down from above and the King of Grendid answered, twisting himself into a ludicrous shape as he tried to aim without holding onto the handrails. Terga had already grabbed up the Queen of Lys and scampered down the catwalk. Prime Minister Smorgla retreated and Brown and Zz split apart to present less of a target. Only the lack of gravity saved them on that first shot—it had obviously been as great a handicap to the woman above as it was to the attackers.

The second beam from above cut the catwalk in half between Zz and Smorgla but it gave away the gun's position. A battery of answering fire from the catwalk disin-tegrated that spot. Two of the freighter's crew were killed.

Four to go.

 

XII

A75-5446BER was terrified. She had enjoyed a simple life as a freighter captain with a good hard-working crew, a man in every port, honor on Zee-9-Oh and adulation on Zee-9-Oh's colonies. Now six of her best women had had been struck down as she watched, the Mother captured, bullied about, and her ship in real danger of being captured by those four whatever-they-were's below.

She yelled at her navigator to hurry with the weapons and tried to think of some way to maintain control of the ship without killing Mother. She could let the air escape from the ship but that really wouldn't accomplish much since her adversaries had spacesuits and her four unconscious crew-women at the lock did not. How about a blast of rockets to throw them off balance? It was worth trying since they had been unprepared for this counterattack (would there be a board of inquiry meeting about the Purity's failure to repel invaders?). Was she so involved with the problems of middle age that…

She fired the rockets. Although the freighter was never intended to land on a planet, the rockets had been installed for emergencies. The rockets spewed mass but the huge freighter hardly felt the charge. The Captain quit in disgust.

Her navigator, jumpmaster, and first officer arrived with two stun guns and an energy rifle. A75-5446BER knew the four officers would have to make a stand. Wait a moment. There was one other thing the captain could do and she did it.

What now, little man? Brown had asked himself after they had won the second round.

"Close up your suit," he ordered. "We'll keep our distance so they can't get more than one of us at a shot. I'm going to freefall forward to that catwalk up ahead." The catwalk "above" was the last transverse structure before the hub which opened to four sides: one to the ship, one straight ahead to the astrolab, and two to the narrow shaftways which connected the crew's sleeping quarters and the control room. "If I make it, come up one at a time. If I miss, don't come after me."

Brown decided he should push off on one leg instead of both to minimize a possible spin. He pushed slowly and was off. When you don't know what to do, try something impossible. He felt down at the sides of his suit. Isn't there always some little gun or rocket you can fire to correct your course? The stun gun doesn't release any mass and neither does the energy gun as far as I know. He found a cluster of grenades, but nothing else that he could identify.

I'm going to miss it, he thought and started swimming toward the catwalk. The motion threw him off balance and he yawed completely around, noting that Terga was scampering forward on the connecting center rail.

That was when A75-5446BER turned the lights out.

Brown panicked. There was no other word for it. He flailed around in mid-air and hit nothing. The sense of falling hit him and the terrors of his recent fall on Grendid smothered his senses.

"Help me, my daughters," Brown heard over the suit radio. "They will ldll me if you do not surrender."

The realization that Queen Orrenda had kept her head served to stabilize Brown's thinking if not his flight. It might work. That's what I brought her along to do. Why didn't I try that first? Then Brown realized where he was falling —in less than a minute he would float right up to the door of the control room.

I must have missed the catwalk, Brown decided. He reached down at his side and unhooked a grenade. How does it work? He didn't have time to worry. There was a light to his right in the direction he was drifting. He threw the grenade at the light more in reaction than design. Use the gun, idiot. As he drifted around in that direction again he saw in the backlight a Zee-9-Oh crew member taking aim at him from the hub entryway. There was the flash of disintegrating air to his left. It sliced toward him and suddenly the world around him exploded.

"Leave me alone," Brown muttered.

"I have found him," came the horrible mechanical translation in Grendidian, "in a cargo net."

Brown looked up and saw an eight-legged space suit. Two of the legs picked him up and lifted him gently to his feet. The lights were on and Brown's brain accepted his being alive.

"Where on the ship are we?" he asked.

The spider-thing from Y-2348 clicked back through the translator, "On the side of the ship near the stern. You were blown here when the explosion occurred."

Explosion?

"Is everybody all right?"

"All except three of the crew. Two are injured, but they should recover if we can get them to a doctor in time."

Brown and the spider-thing walked out of the cargo net and Brown got a frightening view of how far he had fallen —almost a quarter mile. The two started to climb toward the control room as other voices filled his ears from the suit radio.

"What happened?" asked King Zz.

"Damned if I know. I thought I was dead."

"Terga says you must have thrown a grenade."

"I did, but it wasn't armed."

"Maybe her shot set it off. Anyway, it won the war."

But an energy gun wouldn't set it off. Brown puzzled about the grenade's explosion until they reached the control room. There was a huge, gaping hole near the hub where the grenade had exploded, but the room itself seem-ed basically intact. King Zz was waiting for him. So were Terga, Wally Norgina and Queen Orrenda. "Smorgla has taken the prisoners to the Council ship. What do we do now?"

Brown grinned, "I think we should all go home." I think they want a more serious answer, Brown told himself. "Since our programming on the Council ship may have been destroyed by the freighter, we should issue a distress call over the ship's radio."

Wally Norgina, in poor Grendidian, answered, "They destroyed the radio."

"Then we'll have to try the Council ship and hope."

"Couldn't we just wait here?" asked Queen Orrenda.

The King of Grendid answered her, "I'm afraid Zee-9-Oh would find us if we stayed. They found us once."

Bill Brown was very fond of theatrical effects. He believed that one of the charms of theater was the magic of having things happen at exactly the right time. He concluded that Zee-9-Oh must also have loved theater. King Zz's words were still hanging in the air as Terga spotted the arrival of the Zee-9-Oh battle cruiser!

Brown broke the silence. "As I was climbing up here, I was thinking about our battle aboard this ship. I was thinking that I would tell some adoring girl that this was the battle of the amateurs… a collection of Kings led by an obscure actor fighting a freighter crew… we captured the professional soldiers aboard the Council ship. There-come the real professionals." He pointed to the viewport. "There must be a thousand soldiers aboard that ship. We might kill a hundred of them…"

"But we will fight," said Terga, tersely.

"We'll try blackmail first. Queen Orrenda, they'll be in range of our suit radios soon. You'll tell them we hold their Queen Mother prisoner and we'll kill her if they attack." He paused, the futility of his cause so present he could taste it. "Meanwhile, let's look around for anything we can use as weapons."

Queen Orrenda placed her helmet over her head and started broadcasting in the Zee-9-Oh language.

A few minutes later, forced to disregard the ship's control apparatus, since none had any knowledge of its workings, the three men, a rat and a spider stared out at the huge ship in front of them.

It's not much bigger than this ship, Brown decided. We could ram it if we knew how. He grinned. And if U stayed still long enough for us to hit it. Brown did know that deep space ships had practically no mobility. He remembered a play he had been in, written by a spaceman: "You don't fly a spaceship, you aim it and wait." Even the Zee-9-Oh battle cruiser was slow and clumsy as it tried to match the orbit of its intended victims.

"Brown?" said King Zz. "I'm sorry."

"For trying to keep Earth out of the Council? That was years ago."

"I wasn't thinking of that. While you were unconscious we got one of the Zee-9-Oh women to talk. Never mind how."

"They're going to kill us?"

"Yes, and I think you were right about the Queen Mother. The woman we questioned wasn't clear about it, but

"So there goes our chance of bargaining with the battle cruiser." It was a statement, not a question.

"It's worse than that, Brown. The woman said we'd be killed with weapons from your planet. Do you understand?"

Brown waited a full five seconds before answering. "Earth fails to get in Council—Earth destroys Council—members of Council destroy Earth. Zee-9-Oh, of course, is forgotten about in the excitement. Mother's plan is better than I thought."

"We may be able to beat them. The others are writing out dozens of copies of what has happened, hiding their messages everywhere. One of them may be found."

"In time to save Earth?"

"I hope so."

"Look," yelled Terga.

They crowded around the porthole. A tiny speck was approaching the scene. Another ship? "Zee-9-Oh is afraid of us, troopers. They know we can take them in a fair fight."

Nobody laughed.

But the newcomer was apparently unwelcome. The battle cruiser released four missiles at the approaching ship. The group, including Queen Orrenda now, watched the flight of the weapons. Suddenly, well in advance of the oncoming ship, the missiles exploded. The battle cruiser responded with two larger missiles, and one of the pair headed for the freighter!

Brown stared at it in disgust. Disgust was the only emotion Brown could manage. So this is the way it is to be?

One missile exploded less than half way to the freighter. The other, directed at the oncoming ship, turned in its course and headed back toward the battle cruiser. Only at the last moment did the Zee-9-Oh ship try to escape. There was a strangely unspectacular explosion and the stars shown through where the ship had been.

"Generally," Galaxy Citizen Detobion explained to the Council and Brown, "we prefer to let the Councils of each sector handle their own affairs."

The pulsating aura of the handsome Galactic Empire representative filled Brown with awe. It even affects the Council. Brown knew he would follow Citizen Detobion even unto sure death. Glady.

"When we discovered that Zee-9-Oh was buying large quantities of Earth weapons, weapons inferior to her own, we uncovered the plot to destroy the Council. We knew we had to act, then. I am overjoyed you were able to remain alive long enough for me to find you. I congratulate you." The tall, incredibly handsome near human (or beyond human) paused. "I think we will let you deal with Zee-9-Oh. Her leaders, not her people, are at fault. In truth, most of the blame lies with this woman you have prisoner. Let your judgment be harsh, but temper it with mercy. Few of you are without fault, perhaps equaling hers." Citizen Detobion looked around the room, seeming to pause slightly when he came to King Zz.

"I will not stay longer. Here is a radio beacon which will guide your ships to this one after you have completed your jump. My computors indicate that you will not be far from your original destination in spite of the freighter's mass. For safety's sake I will destroy the freighter after you are safely away.

"The Galaxy is glad you have admitted Earth to membership," the Citizen continued. "We had become alarmed at its population problems and felt there was no sound reason why Earth was not allowed planets for emigration. I personally will visit Earth with the Galaxy's congratulations on its admission to the Empire. The Earthman will accompany me in my craft."

What?

"Since your acceleration has continued almost as programmed, you are rapidly approaching jump speed. We must leave immediately. Goodbye and good luck to you and your people."

Stunned, Brown followed the god-like figure to the air lock and fastened his helmet as Citizen Detobion did the same. I thought I was cynical about the Empire. But they did care about us. Brown was sure of it. What great guys, Brown thought. I'm getting maudlin and I like it.

The lock opened and the incredible non-mass of space appeared, but this time Brown was unafraid. He took Citizen Detobion's arm as he was told and they jetted flawlessly to the tiny Galactic craft.

"You may make yourself comfortable in the cabin while I dispose of the freighter's hulk. Are all the Zee-9-Oh women transferred to the Council ship?"

"Yes, Citizen."

"Good. You will find the atmosphere in the cabin quite comfortable."

Brown removed his suit in the lock and walked into the cabin.

"Take that silly wig off, Brown, and if you're still wondering, Zee-9-Oh grenades are self-priming, once removed from the belt. Then they explode on impact."

It was Lise Zuron!

The auburn-haired girl sat in a control chair, her hands flying over a keyboard. Then she rose and greeted Brown with a kiss.

"You can do better than that," she said. "I know."

"I'm numb. The shock." Try.

He did a little better the second time.

"I thought you might have been working for the Galaxy."

"Liar. That was only one of six possible solutions you worked out for me."

"You do read minds."

"You said that as though you were stating a fact. Actually, you were asking a question."

"Well then, if you can read minds, you must be from the Galaxy."

"There are other telepathic races ..-.*,

"I mean of my six solutions. I knew you couldn't have known Harry Gordon—not that way, anyway—so the only way you could have known I was Harry—or rather pretending to be Harry…"

"Stop. That's already the most confusing sentence I ever heard you mouth. And you mouthed a few whoppers in my presence—I particularly enjoyed the originality of: 'My life is at stake'."

"But why did you…" He paused.

"Throw you out of my boudoir? I didn't have to read your mind to finish that sentence. You are so bound in by your puritanical past, it's a wonder to me how you manage to be even a mediocrely competent lover—and what about that minx computer operator?"

"Answer my question first."

"Why did I throw you out?" She ran her tongue over her lips. "I'm sorry. I won't do it tonight. Or whatever time it is. Anywhere."

"Was it because you were afraid you were helping me?"

^William T. Brown!"

"You know what I mean… as a spy."

"As a spy you needed all the help you could get. Oh, what the hell, I'm erasing all this from your mind anyway. Yes, I helped you. I didn't mean to…" she paced the cabin. "Or did I? I don't know. I helped you when I yelled at you on the diving board because I shook your self-confidence, made you worry a little, made you a spy before you really needed to be one. You were much more careful after that.

"I helped you when I made love to you and I helped you when I threw you out because you needed a conquest and you needed defeat. Answer me this—if I hadn't been so bitchy cruel, wouldn't you have folded later when Kandy turned you in, or when you needed a thumbprint? You got soft on Grendid with only our agent to protect you."

"His Eminence?"

Her eyes sparkled as she walked toward him. "Of course not. The red King."

They both laughed.

She continued, "Zz's not so bad. Really quite interesting. Most liars and frauds are interesting; you are."

He put his arm on her shoulders. "One more question

"Don't ask it. I don't want to answer." But she did. "I thought at first it was because you were a poor, lonely, scared SOB. Then I wondered if perhaps I didn't see me in you." She laughed. "I get most of the words I use from your mind, you know. You would have said that as 'digging me through you'."

"Jeasil."

They both laughed.

Then she looked up at Brown and said without pretense,

"I'm the only Citizen of the Galaxy in this area and it's a lonely job."

"Detobion?"

"I am Detobion. Or rather he's a robot I speak through. I told you I was erasing all this from your mind."

"Lise?"

"Yes," she murmured.

"Would you leave this part in?" He kissed her hard.

"You're thinking some very interesting thoughts," she said as she dimmed the lights.

"Lise, I love you," Brown said much later.

"I know you do. The rest of the thoughts in your mind are, unfortunately, impractical. I told you I was the only Galactic Citizen in this Council area. They need me. There's a strange, obscure parallel between my work and your planet's old Peace Corps." She ran her fingers through his hair. "I'm not what you think I am. Citizens of the Galaxy don't look like either Detobion or Lise Zuron of Craddod. We've evolved…"

"You're very human now."

"Big fish, little pond," she murmured.

"All I understand is—for the first time in my life—I love someone. I can't lose you."

"That's all the more touching because you mean it. But I couldn't marry you and start a brave new world."

Then let me stay with you and help you.

"You couldn't." Suddenly his hands were forcefully shoved away from her body. "See. For all practical purposes, I'm invulnerable. If there's one thing an invulnerable person doesn't need, it's someone to make them vulnerable." She removed the force field. "I would have been a very ordinary Citizen of the Empire if I'd remained in the heart of the Galaxy. Here, I'm needed—it's my love affair with 160 billion souls."

Couldn't a small town boy find happiness with the beautiful and telepathic…

"Soap opera. Exactly. To my knowledge, there's never been a successful marriage between telepathic and non-telepathic races. Besides that, I'm much older than you and I'll remain young even after you turn gray and impotent."

Only an actor could have spotted the change on Lise's face. "Is that it?"

Lise ran her forefinger down Brown's nose and across his lips. "We'd better get ready. This ship is a bit faster than anything you've been on. We're due to pop out around Mars in a few minutes."

"Lise, I don't want children."

"That's why those marriages don't work out. The telepathic partner always knows when the other is lying."

"I swear…"

"Not today or tomorrow, but someday. Come on William T. Brown, you've got a lot of forgetting to do."

Circus.

Brown had looked appropriately awed as he stood beside the Galaxy Citizen while Detobion made a short but moving speech welcoming Earth to the Galactic Empire. As the cameras followed the Citizen's departure, Brown disappeared. More accurately, Vic Hermitage had kidnapped him.

A few minutes later, Brown met the man from Oxford Milling whose name was not Mr. Haggard in a small waiting room under the East City Spaceport.

"Hurry, Brown, we need your report before the reporters turn this place upside down looking for you."

"Where's my triple-A emigration rating and my 10,000 ECMC'sr

"Unworthy of you, Brown," muttered Haggart.

"Once a man commits murder…" Brown paused. "I used to believe everyone. Even you."

"You're to receive 30,000 from us and there'll probably be at least twice that from 'The William T. Brown Association'."

"The whatr

Vic pitched in, "Sort of an 'Equal Opportunity for Earth Ex-Spies Fan Club'."

The Director scowled, "If you two have completed your comedy act…"

Brown sighed, "As you remember, gang, when last we left the Council of 16, Grendid had agreed to support Earth's entry into the Council, but—" he paused dramatically, "—unbeknownst to the good guys, King Zz really intended to doublecross Earth. Grendid did vote for Earth, but, utilizing all her powerful economic and political wiles, coerced Wally Norgina into saying 'nay'.

"Was all lost? No, for Zee-9-Oh, in enough trouble already, abstained, and Earth picked up a formerly 'no' vote from the fish folk."

"Why did Zee-9-Oh abstain?"

"Not for us. I think Mother thought it would be fun to twist Zz's tail a bit. With Earth in, Z-9-Oh might have had a better chance with three body problems than with two shots. Anyway, we won eight-seven-one."

"Norgina, heh?"

"Don't be too hard on him. He's a brave old man."

"Well, I guess that's about it," said "Haggart."

"Wrong. Zee-9-Oh tries to kill off the Council at the 11th hour to keep from getting kicked out for meddling in Grendid's affairs. Zee-9-Oh is out, by the way; we belong to a Council of 16, not 17."

"What happened?"

"Nothing much. Oh, Vic, your encapsulated Kleenex came in handy. I also poked King Zz in the mouth; I fell off a catwalk on a Zee-9-Oh freighter; I made a fool out of myself and killed at least one more sentient being and the Galaxy came in and saved us." He sagged.

"What's the matter, Bill?" Vic asked.

"Nothing. Tired, that's all. I'll make a full report on a no-dub, single-frequency tape later. I'm planning to use 1564, Shakespeare's birthdate, for the frequency because I value my own writing very highly. Now I'm going out and take bows. I've been practicing ever since Detobion woke me up after we came out of overdrive. Tell them I'm coming up to Ramp 83."

As Brown left the room, he nearly collapsed. Fainting isn't heroic, Brown. Or ironic or whatever you were trying to be back in that room.

He felt his left arm, sore and throbbing now from the wrenching he had given it on the freighter catwalk. He cursed his other injuries, too—the ones no doctor could cure:

Cowardice.

Selfishness.

Vanity.

Inability to feel deeply for another.

Earth knew Brown to be a hero. In a few days, they would know him to be an even greater hero. Brown knew Brown to be a fraud. Everything I did, I did simply to stay alive. "For I have been tested and found wanting," he quoted his own summation of his brief career. Lucky, but wanting. •

Why couldn't I be stupid and believe I really accomplished something? Brown was receiving credit for opening up emigration for Earth. Gordon would have cliched that into "a new lease on life for old terra." The result was commendable but Brown knew he hadn't accomplished it. Suppose I had never gone to Troll or Grendid—Earth's subtle pressure or persuasion or bribery on Derognad would have made the vote 9-7 in our favor. Some poor, hardworking unknown SOB saved our lives and spectacular Don Quixote Brown takes the bows.

He could see the crowd now. Rhythmically, he clapped his hands together and smiled. The really ironic thing, he thought, is now that emigration is possible, it doesn't mean anything to me anymore. Not personally, anyway. I can't see me planting the fields and holding amateur night every Thursday.

No, I've played with the big boys. Played badly, maybe, but I've been in the game. "How you gonna keep 'em down on the farm…"

How did His Eminence know about the bomb? Or did he? Maybe it was simply found by an X-Ray picture his doctors had taken after the crash. But "double damn it"

"Jeasil," and "my good man," I don't think it's as simple as all that. I think… Brown sighed. Never mind what I think—I'll never know now.

And Lise. Beautiful Lise. 1 had six possible answers for what you are but I don't care anymore what you are. All I want to know is where you are. He imitated a popular TV performer, "Where are you tonight, Lise Zuron?"

Why are you the only girl I've ever met 1 can remember?

He was seen and a steady cheer radiated from Brown as he approached the periphery of the huge crowd.

Flay your part, he told himself. You may be a lousy spy, but you're one hell of an actor.
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